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To help members achieve  
their financial goals by building 
relationships for mutual benefit

Our Mission

◗   Community First is a member owned 
provider of financial services in the greater 
Sydney market

◗    We are devoted to “people helping people”  
to achieve their financial goals 

◗    We continue to challenge stereotypes to 
remain relevant to the members and market 
needs 

◗   We will help create better and more 
sustainable communities where we operate 

◗    Our people deliver service standards 
superior than our competitors and “a 
customer experience” that promotes why  
we are different

◗    We make profits to reinvest in more services, 
member and community benefits and fair 
fees

◗    We expect to grow as a viable community 
banking alternative 

◗    We manage our business for the long term 
and intend to stay a mutual into perpetuity 

Our Vision
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Five Year Summary

TOTAL ASSETS
$’000

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

LOANS TO MEMBERS
$’000

MEMBER DEPOSITS
$’000

TOTAL MEMBERS’ EQUITY
$’000

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2010-11

2011-12

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

600,391

589,201

579,750

564,669

555,044

689,015

664,245

663,553

640,050

624,702

67,986

65,765

63,553

61,248

59,140

738,338

736,703

695,173

712,871
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Five Year History

2014-15 2013-14 2012-13 2011-12 2010-11

STATISTICAL INFORMATION    

Number of Members 1  64,988 65,657 66,795 68,454 72,684

INCOME STATEMENT

Total income $'000 43,029 45,461 49,140 53,688 53,687

Interest income $'000 35,666 37,647 40,586 45,098 44,810

Net interest income $'000 18,479 17,587 17,639 18,145 18,095

Impairment losses on loans and advances $'000 355 308 388 762 722

Operating expenses 2 $'000 22,584 22,203 22,922 23,257 23,583

Operating profit after tax $'000 2,222 2,211 2,204 2,108 2,002

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets $'000 764,666 738,338 736,703 712,871 695,173

Gross loans and advances to Members 3 $'000 600,391 589,201 579,750 564,669 555,044

Provision for loan impairment $'000 1,100 1,100 1,200 1,200 1,000

Member deposits $'000 689,015 664,245 663,553 640,050 624,702

Total Members' equity $'000 67,987 65,764 63,553 61,248 59,140

RATIO ANALYSIS  

Total revenue to average assets % 5.73 6.16 6.78 7.63 7.80

Operating expenses to average assets % 3.01 3.01 3.16 3.30 3.43

Net profit after tax to average assets % 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.29

Net profit after tax to average equity % 3.32 3.42 3.53 3.50 3.44

Net interest margin to average assets % 2.46 2.38 2.43 2.58 2.63

Provision for loan impairment to average loans % 0.18 0.19 0.21 0.21 0.18

Net assets per Member $ 1,046 1,002 951 895 814

Notes:

1.  Non-International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) information has not been audited or reviewed by the external auditors, but has been sourced from the 
core banking system and includes regular dormant account removals.

2.  Excludes Impairment losses on loans and advances.

3.  Excludes Provision for loan impairment.
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Financial and Operating results
As a member-owned and community focused organisation, 
providing ongoing member benefit and achieving a satisfactory 
level of profit to fund the future is always a delicate balance. On 
that basis, Community First is pleased to report the achievement 
of a tenth successive year of profit improvement with an after tax 
profit of $2.222m. We are also pleased to report that Members 
Equity increased to $68 million. 

The overall Balance Sheet highlights a growth in total assets of 
3.6%. However, in a low interest rate environment with subdued 
business confidence, the Asset and Liability Committee focused 
on margin improvement in these volatile times and targeted 
smaller volume personal loans and the award winning revolving 
credit card products. The unsecured portfolio grew by 19.6% and 
whilst it represents a slightly higher credit risk, Community First 
remains very conscious of the need to provide members with 
short term and highly competitive finance that does not place 
them at an increased or unnecessary future risk of default.

In the financial year ended June 2015, the underlying quality of 
the loan book was reflected by a very low total bad debts write-
off of $355k and arrears continue to remain substantially under 
the industry average.

Community First continues to build a long term base for 
sustainable controlled growth with a Capital Adequacy Ratio 
(CAR) of 16.4%; historically low arrears levels of 0.36% and 
high liquidity of 19.7%. Our CAR is almost double the minimum 
required of the four major banks and reflects a very strong capital 
position. 

A level playing field for competition
Competition and choice for consumers are important to the 
health of the Australian banking sector and we welcome the 
recent Financial Services Inquiry (FSI) reform blueprint announced 

in late 2014. Many consumers are probably unaware that whilst 
Community First Credit Union is an Approved Deposit-taking 
Institution (ADI) regulated by the Australian Prudential Regulation 
Authority (APRA) under the Banking Act (1959) just like the Big 4 
Banks, Community First actually holds higher levels of capital and 
arguably represents a significantly lower overall risk profile. 

The report makes recommendations to promote the fair treatment 
of consumers, to improve efficiency and build confidence and 
trust in the financial system. The FSI blueprint tackles anti-
competitive distortions that benefit the biggest banks.

APRA’s decision to force the Big 4 Banks to hold more capital 
against residential mortgages brings us closer to a level playing 
field in prudential regulation of the home loan market and in time 
will address the funding cost advantage enjoyed by the major 
banks under the current capital settings. 

APRA’s move will continue to allow Community First to maintain 
sustainable competitive pressure on the major banks and provide 
a viable benefit for consumers in Australia. This is good news for 
home-buyers and our members and we welcome more initiatives 
to level the competitive playing-field.

Growing Distribution
The Board is also pleased to announce the proposed merger of 
Community First and Northern Beaches Credit Union (NBCU) 
before the end of 2015. 

The proposed merger will result in a new entity with more than 
75,000 members across the Sydney and Coast markets with 
assets under management of $910 million, and a further four 
Financial Services Store locations. It will bring together two credit 
unions with shared values, which are firmly focused on creating 
and returning value to members while also supporting the 
communities in which their members live and work. 

Chair & CEO's
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A number of interim steps are required before the merger 
is finalised, including member information sessions, Board 
resolutions and the completion of the necessary regulatory 
approvals. However, both entities consider this merger to be in 
the best interests of all members. 

Our distribution is a key aspect of our business and we seek to 
strike a balance between changing member banking behavioural 
needs and the optimal utilisation of our available physical 
resources. We continue to see significant shifts in member 
banking behaviour which has seen the majority of everyday 
banking move to convenient online, ATM and EFTPOS/paywave 
transactions. Therefore, we will look to increase our focus on the 
online channel to meet evolving member demands and review 
our existing physical locations with each lease expiry. However, 
please note that the organisation remains committed to physical 
stores that provide valuable member services in sales, problem 
resolution and advice. 

We are also confident that the revamped Easy Street website 
with a modern responsive design has made a difference to those 
members who prefer that access channel and similarly, members 
should expect to see an even simpler and more responsive 
Community First website in late 2015. 

More Mutual Banks and greater independence   
Currently, there are eleven Credit Unions and Building Societies 
who have elected to become a Mutual Bank in Australia. As 
mentioned in previous annual reports, whilst Community First 
has the necessary capital strength to become a Mutual Bank, we 
continue to evaluate the options to pursue the evolution in line 
with our strategic plan and the needs of our members. 

However, all members should rest assured that regardless of the 
corporate structure, Community First’s focus is on its members 
and providing them with the highest possible levels of service and 
benefits from their relationship with the credit union. 

A continuing theme of Community First’s strategy is increasing 
our ability to operate independently. Following on from previous 
years’ initiatives of adopting our own independent BSB and Visa 
BIN, Community First continues to work with new partners to 
develop more direct relationships with suppliers and improve our 
efficiency and flexibility to meet market and consumer demands. 

It is important that Community First maintain its ability to 
determine its own destiny and the credit union is planning even 
more exciting initiatives over the next few years.

Summary
In summary, we would like to thank all our members for their 
continued support of the Credit Union. Our continued success 
relies on your support and as a Board and management team, 
we continually try and find new ways of helping our members 
achieve their financial goals.

I also extend my thanks to my fellow Directors, the management 
team and all the staff at Community First, for their continued 
focus on providing members outstanding products and services 
over the last 12 months.

t

Stephen Lowndes
Chair of Directors
Member and owner since 1999

John Tancevski
Chief Executive Officer
Member and owner since 2005
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Highlights of the Year

+64 NPS result of +64 achieved 
for the McGrath Pink Visa

Community First has been 
voted Best Credit Card 
in the 2014 Mozo People’s 
Choice Awards – the only 
banking awards judged by 
customers

Community First establishes 
an alliance with Wollongong 
based Health Fund – 
Peoplecare

The McGrath Pink Visa 
reaches over $300,000 
in donations to the 
McGrath Foundation

Our lowest fixed rate 
ever of 3.75%.p.a.  
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For the third consecutive 
year, our McGrath Pink 
Visa was awarded Smart 
Investors Blue Ribbon 
Awards 2014 – Best Low 
Rate Credit Card

Launch of the  
new Easy Street  

website with 
responsive design

+40

Community First Credit Union 
achieves a NPS result of +40  
– our highest NPS result yet

Our McGrath Pink Visa was 
awarded Money Magazine’s 
Best of the Best Award  
2015 – Best Low Rate  
Credit Card 

Ron Birch, a founding 
Director of Community First 
Credit Union was awarded 
Order of Australia in the 
Queen’s Birthday Honours. 
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We continue to see significant shifts in member banking behaviour 
towards digital channels and so have begun to rollout a series of 
significant upgrades to our key websites. 

During the year we delivered a major revamp to our Easy Street 
website. The new site has a responsive design which enables it 
to be used seamlessly across desktop, tablets and smart phones 
and reflects the way in which our members access our websites 
everyday. 

The Community First website is also currently undergoing a major 
redevelopment which will be finalised in the second half of 2015.
This ongoing work to improve the capability of our digital channels 
is a key theme and will deliver our members an enhanced user 
experience.

As part of this work we will be launching our Smart App on both 
the Easy Street and Community First launch so that members can 
do their banking on the go. 
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1,407,241
VISITS TO THE  

COMMUNITY FIRST WEBSITE

46,335
MEMBERS REGISTERED  
FOR INTERNET BANKING

13,600
COMMUNITY FIRST  
APP DOWNLOADS

12,127
MEMBERS REGISTERED  
FOR ESTATEMENTS 

A key measure of our 
success is our Members 
willingness to recommend 
Community First to their 
friends and family

37.6%

62.4%

PHONE/
TABLET

DESKTOP

Members
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Another award winning year for our products  

2015 saw the continued recognition of our Low Rate/McGrath Pink 
Visa card products by a range of independent financial experts 
such as AFR Smart Investor, Money Magazine and Mozo, proving 
members have access to a number of Australia’s best financial 
products and services.  

Community First continues to invest in providing members with 
a range of relevant banking products and the year saw the 
introduction of the following: 

◗  Deeper interest rate discounts 
on the Accelerator Home Loan 
Package 

◗  Revamp of Business Banking 
lending products

◗  Our lowest rate home loan of 
3.75%p.a. 

◗  Simplification of our Youth and 
Student Starter accounts that allow 
fee free banking up to 24 years old.

NPS improvement from 37 to 40 

A key measure of our success is our members willingness 
to recommend Community First to their friends and family. 
Community First measures this on a monthly basis through a 
methodology called the Net Promoter Score (NPS). 

Member advocacy continues to grow year-on-year and we 
recorded a NPS of positive 40 which is an improvement on last 
year’s NPS result of 37. This compares more than favourably 
against the average of the Big 4 Banks which achieved an average 
Net Promoter Score of negative 16. 

(Source: Engaged Marketing 2014)
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NPS

+25
2012-13

2013-14

2014-15+37
+40

COMMUNITY FIRST 
NPS IMPROVEMENT SCALE (YEAR TO YEAR)

Larissa,  
Member and Owner since 2006
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Our key community relationship continues with the McGrath 
Foundation via our McGrath Pink Visa Card.  The low rate Pink 
Visa card continues to be a socially and financially compelling 
product for all customers with 9 out of 10 members choosing the 
award winning card.  

The McGrath Pink Visa also receives our highest Net Promoter 
Score (NPS) across our product range from our members with a 
+64. To put his into perspective the overall NPS for Community 
First is +40 indicating the high level of advocacy for the card.

The McGrath Foundation raises money to fund McGrath Breast 
Care Nurses in communities right across Australia and to increase 
breast awareness in young Australians, with a particular emphasis 
on young women. 
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In June 2015 we reached another significant milestone by 
celebrating over $314,000 in donations to the McGrath Foundation 
since the McGrath Pink Visa card’s launch. This donation amount 
increased by $100,000 from the previous year and continues to 
increase year on year.  

We expect to reach the magic number of $380,000 by early 2016, 
which is the amount required to fund a McGrath Breast Care 
Nurse for 3 years. 

The McGrath Foundation 
raises money to fund 
McGrath Breast Care  
Nurses in communities  
right across Australia A
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$100,000
INCREASE SINCE 2014

2015
$314,000

2014
$200,000

...2016
     $380,000

first
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Until recently the only way to purchase environmentally friendly 
products was for members to invest their own money up front. 
At Community First, we think that people should be rewarded for 
wanting to build a better world. So we developed products to help 
our members create a positive change in their day to day lives by 
reducing their impact on the environment and their carbon foot 
print, while also saving money and avoiding future price rises. 

This year our Green Loan has made solid progress and continues 
to grow. In 2014 – 2015 we funded over $7.7million in Green 
Loans which allowed 849 members to save money through a low 
interest personal loan which helped them to find their own green 
initiatives.

In the past 12 months we have: 

◗  Funded $7.7million in green loans 

◗  Established a number of referral arrangements with larger 
solar companies to fund solar panel purchases 

◗  Streamlined the application process so members can 
purchase their solar product sooner 

We are committed to evolving our green loans to help our 
members finance environmentally friendly products. 

NUMBERS OF COMMUNITY FIRST GREEN LOANS FUNDED

2013-14

2014-15

379

849 124% 
INCREASE
NUMBER OF GREEN 
LOANS FUNDED IN 
2014-5

Environment

A
B

O
U

T
 U

S



  ANNUAL REPORT 2015 13

The Keightley Home

Jason, Member and Owner since 2014, from Ropes Crossing, 
NSW saves an average of $250 per quarter on his power bills.

With 2 adults and 2 teenagers in the household and all the 
usual appliances such as heaters and air conditioning, the 
Keightleys from Ropes Crossing in NSW are aware of their energy 
consumption and try to be as energy efficient as possible. 

“It is possible to use the electricity savings that you make from 
having solar installed to help make your repayments”.
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It is possible to use the 
electricity savings that 
you make from having 
solar installed to help 
make your repayments

first
$250

EXPECTED  
QUARTERLY BENEFIT

$4,800
COST OF SYSTEM3KW

SYSTEM CAPACITY

AUGUST

2014
SYSTEM INSTALLED

PER QUARTER
RETURNED POWER  

TO THE GRID

$15

Jason,  
Member and Owner since 2014
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Community First is a people based business with our people 
seeking to deliver a customer experience’ that promotes why we 
are different and turns our members into advocates of the credit 
union. 

As at 30 June, 2015, Community First Credit Union employed 133 
people from all over Sydney, Central Coast and Newcastle. 

Some highlights for the year include: 

Former and current staff recognition  

Ronald Birch, an original founder of Community First Credit Union 
was awarded the Order of Australia medal as part of the Queen’s 
Birthday honours for his pioneering work in the credit union 
industry.  

In 1959 he co-founded the Sydney Water Board Officers Credit 
Union Co-Operative (now Community First Credit Union) after being 
knocked back for a personal loan to fix the family’s refrigerator in 
1958. Today nearly 60 years later Community First Credit Union 
continues to grow upon the solid foundations established by 
pioneers such as Ron Birch.   

His commitment is matched by current employees with our 
Operations Manager, John Athanasou winning an emerging leader 
scholarship at the 2014 World Credit Union Conference. The 
Emerging Leader Award was presented to up-and-coming leaders 
and recognises the commitment of young professionals to the 
mutual sector.
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People

GEOGRAPHICAL CONCENTRATION OF COMMUNITY FIRST STAFF

24%

76%

CENTRAL  
COAST

SYDNEY

We invest significantly 
in our staff and their 
development with the 
average training hours 
completed per staff 
member over 50 hours 
per year
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Career Development 

In the past two years we have established and run an internal Sales 
and Service Academy. We invest significantly in our staff and their 
development with the average training hours completed per staff 
member over 50 hours per year. Our sales training focuses on:

◗ Capitalising on sales opportunities 

◗ Setting a new standard in member experience, and

◗ Developing our staff to their full potential 

Equal Opportunity for women compliant

We are pleased to advise that Community First continues to be 
complaint with the Workplace Gender Equality Act 2012 (Act). 
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first
OVER
50 
HOURS
TRAINING PER STAFF MEMBER PER YEAR 34%

66%

46

87

Ronald Birch, an original founder 
of Community First Credit Union



Our Brand Map

Proposed merger planned in late 2015
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Our Structure

BOARD

CEO

LEADERSHIP 
FORUM

MEMBERS AS OWNERS

MEMBERS AS 
CUSTOMERS

DEPARTMENTS

Member Experience

Stores

Marketing

Call Centre

Relationship 
Managers

Online Channels

Alliance Development 
Managers

Support Services

IT

Member 
Administrations

Office of Projects

Credit Services

Talent Management

Finance

Collections

Corporate Services

Company Secretariat

Strategic Risk

Operational Risk

Risk Management
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The Corporate Governance Statement should be read in 
conjunction with the Directors’ Report.

Corporate Governance describes the practices and processes 
adopted by an organisation to ensure sound management of the 
organisation within the legal framework under which it operates.

Community First is licensed as an Authorised Deposit-taking 
Institution (ADI) under the Banking Act 1959 (as amended) by the 
Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) who also acts 
as the regulator for Prudential Risk.

Since 1 November 2003, Community First has also operated 
under an Australian Financial Services (AFS) Licence issued by 
the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) 
under section 913B of the Corporations Act 2001.

Community First is regulated by ASIC for adherence to 
the Corporations Act 2001, for the Australian Equivalents 
to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), for 
adherence to the National Consumer Credit Protection Act (2009) 
in maintaining fair lending practices and for Financial Services 
Reform (FSR) requirements. The general requirements under the 
FSR legislation are to:

◗  be licensed by ASIC to carry on a financial services business;

◗  comply with AFS licence conditions and financial services 
laws;

◗  disclose details of Community First’s products and services;

◗  maintain training and appropriate competency levels for all 
staff who deal with Members; and

◗  provide an effective and independent complaints handling 
process.

Both ASIC and APRA may conduct periodic inspections of our 
operations and Community First reports to both annually on 
our compliance with their respective requirements. The external 
auditor also reports to both ASIC on FSR compliance and to 
APRA on Prudential Standards compliance.

Members

The interests of Members are paramount in the operation 
of Community First Credit Union Limited. Our Members, as 
owners and shareholders, operate Community First through 
their approval of Community First’s Constitution, the democratic 
election of a Board of Directors and the democratic process of 
General Meetings. The Board has responsibility for overseeing the 
management of the affairs of Community First on behalf of our 
Members.

Board of Directors - Role of the Board

The responsibilities of Community First’s Directors arise from 
statute and common law. The most relevant statutes are the 
Banking Act 1959 (as amended), the Corporations Act 2001, and 
the National Consumer Credit Protection Act (2009).

The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall Corporate 
Governance of Community First. The Board has a clear view of 
its governance responsibilities and believes it has the necessary 
experience, skills and mix of people to oversee the development 
of the higher standards of corporate integrity and accountability 
required of an ethical organisation. There is a clearly accepted 
division of responsibilities at the head of Community First, which 
ensures an appropriate balance of power and authority.

The Board has delegated responsibility for the operation and 
administration of the Credit Union to the Chief Executive Officer 
and executive management. Responsibilities are delineated by 
formal delegations of authority.

Composition of the Board 

The Board of Directors of Community First Credit Union is 
comprised of seven Directors elected by Community First’s 
membership or by the Board to fill a casual vacancy. No 
members of the management team sit on the Board; it is 
composed entirely of non-executive Directors. 

A minority of Directors is elected each year in rotation and serves 
a three-year term. There is no limit on the number of terms 
that a person may serve as a Director. Any Member, subject 
to qualifications set out in the Constitution, APRA’s prudential 
standards and the Banking Act, is eligible to nominate as a 
Director.

Nominations for the position of Director, including those from 
elected Directors offering themselves for re-election, are part of 
the election process. A candidate must be nominated by two 
different Community First Members, be assessed by the Board 
Nominations Committee, meet the Fit and Proper Persons 
requirements of the Banking Act 1959, and if the number of 
candidates exceeds the number of vacancies, be elected by 
postal ballot under the supervision of an independent Returning 
Officer. Details of the Directors who held office during the financial 
year are set out on pages 23-25 of this Report.

Board Processes

The Board meets regularly and accepts responsibility for the 
overall governance of Community First, including the formation 
of strategic direction and policy, approval of plans and goals 
for Management and the review of performance against these 
goals. It has also established appropriate structures for the 
management of Community First including an overall framework 
of internal control, risk management and the establishment of 
ethical standards.

The Board has approved a detailed formal policy for the ongoing 
training and development of Directors. 

General processes for the operation of the Board have been 
formally documented, including:

◗  declaration of conflicts of interest;

◗  checks that are required to satisfy the ‘Fit and Proper 
Persons’ requirements of the Banking Act;

◗  a statement of responsibilities and duties of the Directors; 
and

◗  the division of responsibility between the Board and the Chief 
Executive Officer.

To increase its effectiveness, the Board has established 
Committees with responsibility for particular areas. The role of 
each Committee, together with the Terms of Reference that set 
out their responsibilities and duties, is documented in a Policy 
statement approved by the Board of Directors. 

Corporate Governance Statement
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These Committees are:

◗  Board Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committee

◗  Board Audit Committee

◗  Board Risk Committee

◗  Board Nominations Committee

Board Composition and Review of Performance

The Board has a procedure for the assessment of its 
performance as a whole, the performance of individual Directors 
and the Chairperson. The assessments are conducted annually, 
identifying priorities for the professional development of Directors 
and help to improve the performance of the Board and individual 
Directors in the execution of their duties and responsibilities.

The Board has established a system to review the skills and 
experience of all Directors to ensure it retains an appropriate mix 
of skills within the composition of the Board.

Board Remuneration

Remuneration of Directors is determined by reference to 
an independent Australia-wide survey of mutual directors’ 
remuneration. Recommendations on remuneration are submitted 
for consideration by Members at the Annual General Meeting. 
In addition to the remuneration, Directors are reimbursed for 
out-of-pocket expenses incurred in their role. There are no other 
benefits received from Community First.  

The Board Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committee 
performs the review of the Board remuneration.

Management Remuneration

The remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer, Executive 
Management, key Finance and Risk managers are reviewed by 
the Board on an annual basis taking into account Community 
First’s performance and current market conditions. Remuneration 
arrangements for other executives and staff are determined by 
the Chief Executive Officer by reference to external advice, Award 
remuneration levels and Community First’s performance. 

Ethical Standards

Any interest in contracts or any other potential or actual conflict 
of interest is declared at each Board meeting where the Director 
becomes aware that a conflict has or may arise. All business 
conducted by Directors in the normal course of their transactions 
with Community First are conducted on terms and conditions 
that apply to any other Member. All loans to an individual Director 
may only be approved by a majority of the other Directors. Loans 
to the Chief Executive Officer are handled in a similar manner.

The Board has accepted to be bound by the Ethics and 
Values Principles set down by the Customer Owned Banking 
Association (COBA).

The Board has also agreed to be bound by the Mutual Banking 
Code of Practice and ePayments Code of Conduct which 
sets down principles by which Community First deals with 
its Members and keeps them informed of services available, 
costs and other relevant information. As part of these Codes, 
Community First has implemented procedures for resolving 
complaints with Members on transactions and refers disputes to 
an independent arbiter, the Financial Services Ombudsman.

Fitness and Propriety

Community First undertakes an annual assessment of all 
Directors and Senior Management to determine their fitness and 
propriety for the roles they are required to fulfil. This assessment 
must at least meet the requirements of APRA’s Prudential 
Standard for Fit and Proper persons, and ensures that there are 
no persons in a responsible position who have been disqualified 
from acting in such a role.

Risk Management

Community First’s risk assessment process has been developed 
in accordance with the Australian and New Zealand, international 
standard on risk management.

The process assists the Board and senior management to identify 
and understand significant risks faced by Community First.

Risk assessment, internal controls and internal audit play an 
important role in Community First’s corporate governance, 
assurance and compliance framework.

Compliance

Community First’s compliance process has been developed in 
accordance with the Australian and New Zealand standard on 
compliance. The process assists the Board to ensure that we 
remain aware of changes in legislation, codes and comply with 
our ADI and AFS/Australian Credit Licence obligations.

Employee Wellbeing

Community First has a well established Work Health and Safety 
(WHS) Committee, and committee members are appointed by 
their peers to represent all employees in the organisation. This 
provides Community First with the forum to consult with staff on 
WHS activities and issues should they arise. Committee members 
are accredited in WHS consultation and their contribution to WHS 
is attributable to the low level of incidents in our workplace. 

We value the well being of our employees and have initiated 
new safety programs to further enhance the health and safety of 
employees throughout the year. This includes training for first aid, 
robbery safety awareness, flu precaution actions and employee 
assistance programs.

At Community First, we recognise that a strong and positive 
culture is achieved through shared values and beliefs. 
Importantly, attracting and retaining talented people who support 
our values is a key initiative of our organisation.

Community First’s flexible and diverse workforce consists of 133 
full time, part time and casual staff across our Store network, 
head and regional offices and we firmly believe our staff represent 
the communities in which we serve. 

With a workforce participation of 66% female, our workplace 
encourages participation at all levels. Of our leadership positions, 
36% are female and we currently support over 45% staff in part 
time employment and flexible working options (including working 
from home and flexible working hours). 

We actively seek people from all walks of life to ensure a 
balanced and diverse workforce and to promote a workplace 
environment which fosters ideas and new ways of doing things. 

Community First is proud to be compliant with the requirements 
of the Equal Opportunity for Women in the Workplace (EOWW) 
Act.

Corporate Governance Statement
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Board Committees

Board Corporate Governance and Remuneration 
Committee

This is a committee comprised of the Board’s Chair and two 
other Directors and the Chief Executive Officer. 

Its major activities are: 

◗  monitoring corporate governance development and 
bringing to the Board’s attention matters of importance and 
recommendations for improvement;

◗  reviewing the guidelines for Directors, and monitoring 
compliance;

◗  recommending policies and guidelines for the process of 
disclosure of information from the Board to shareholders;

◗  facilitating effective communication between the Board and 
Management;

◗  co-ordinating Community First’s strategic planning process;

◗  co-ordinating the appraisal of Board skills mix, performance 
review and the Director education program;

◗  developing Executive Management and Director succession 
plans; and

◗  reviewing Board remuneration and recommendation to the 
Annual General Meeting.

The members of the Committee during the year were:

Chair 
 S. Lowndes

Members 
 J. Johnson 
 S. Nugent 
 J. Tancevski

A sub-committee of the Committee, titled the Remuneration 
Committee, reviews the performance and remuneration package 
of the Chief Executive Officer, their direct reports, key Finance 
and Risk managers. The Chief Executive Officer is not a member 
of this sub-committee.

Board Audit Committee

The Board Audit Committee is established to oversee the 
financial affairs of Community First and its controlled entities. 
It also considers matters concerning the internal and external 
audits. Broadly, the Committee assists the Board by: 

◗  overseeing financial reporting including the integrity of 
financial statements and the independent audit thereof;

◗  overseeing the audit process including engagement of 
the External and Internal Auditors for both corporate and 
prudential regulation purposes;

◗  overseeing the coordination of the external and internal audit 
functions;

◗  performing the role required under the Prudential Standards 
of participating in the tripartite arrangements between 
the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA), 
Community First and our External and Internal Auditors;

◗  acting as a Committee to assist the Board in discharging the 
Board’s responsibilities;

◗  supervising special investigations requested by the Board; 
and

◗  considering the results of assurance activities within the 
3-lines of defence model contained in the prudential 
standard.

The Committee comprised of up to four Directors, none of whom 
is the Chair of the Board.

The members of the Committee during the year were:

Chair 
 K. Pickering

Members 
 N. Kelly 
 S. Korchinski 
 R. Scopelliti
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Board Risk Committee

The Board Risk Committee is established to oversee the 
establishment, implementation, and annual review of Community 
First and its controlled entities Risk Management System. 
The focus of the Board Risk Committee is to monitor the 
organisations Risk Management Framework and provide 
oversight of the enterprise wide risk management systems. This 
includes the evaluation of the effectiveness of internal controls 
and policies. 

Broadly, the Committee assists the Board of Directors to 
effectively discharge its responsibilities within the context of 
the Board determined risk appetite, consider the treatment of 
material risk by: 

◗  overseeing the risk management strategy and framework of 
Community First;

◗  making recommendations to the Board concerning the risk 
appetite statement and tolerance limits

◗  monitoring risk management practices;

◗  reviewing management’s plans for mitigation of material risks;

◗  promotion of a risk based culture; 

◗  achieving a balance of risk and reward;

◗  monitoring Community First’s compliance with relevant Board 
policies, prudential and statutory requirements;

◗  performing the role required under the Prudential Standards 
of participating in the tripartite arrangements between 
the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA), 
Community First and our External and Internal Auditors;

◗  acting as a Committee to assist the Board in discharging the 
Board’s responsibilities; 

◗  supervising special investigations requested by the Board;

◗  monitoring the three year rolling business plan for 
consideration in strategy discussions and annual budgets;

◗  overseeing the annual risk management attestation for the 
regulator and

◗  considering the results of assurance activities within the three 
lines of defence model contained in the prudential standard.

The Board Audit Committee and Board Risk Committee also 
undertakes an annual review of the performance of the internal 
auditors, external auditors and Risk Management department to 
identify any opportunities for improved performance and more 
effective oversight.

The Board Risk Committee comprised of up to four Directors, 
none of whom is the Chair of the Board.

The members of the Committee during the year were:

Chair 
 K. Pickering

Members 
 N. Kelly 
 S. Korchinski 
 R. Scopelliti

Board Nominations Committee

This Committee comprises one external independent Chair, 
one member of Community First and one Director. The Director 
representative cannot be a person standing for election or be a 
person nominating or seconding a person for election.

The role of this Committee is to review checks relative to ‘Fit 
and Proper’ tests and to interview persons who have been 
nominated for election as a Director, to establish the suitability 
and qualifications of the person.

The Committee then expresses an opinion in the material 
accompanying ballot papers as to whether the Committee 
considers the nominee has demonstrated his/her ability to meet 
the requirements to be a Director of Community First Credit 
Union Limited.

The members of the Committee during the year were:

Chair 
 J. Curtis

Members 
 P. Johnson 
 S. Lowndes
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JOHN TANCEVSKI

Member and Owner since 2005

B.Comm (Accy), FCPA, MBA, MAICD 
 
 
 
Chief Executive Officer, Company 
Secretary, Director Credit Card 
Company Pty Ltd and Green 
Environment Finance Pty Ltd

Member Corporate Governance and 
Remuneration Committee

John joined Community First in May 2005 
as Chief Executive Officer. He has spent 
over half his career working in senior 
and general management positions with 
medium and large sized credit unions and 
previously had a diverse background in 
the steel, manufacturing, oil and health 
industries.

John has extensive experience in 
strategic planning, corporate governance 
and secretarial duties; finance and 
treasury; risk management; compliance 
and information technology. John is a 
Director of TransAction Solutions Limited 
(TAS), a facilities management company, 
and is also the Chair of the Board Audit 
and Risk Committee at TAS.

John holds a Masters of Business 
Administration degree and is a Fellow 
of the Australian Society of Certified 
Practising Accountants (CPA).

RICK DORE

Member and Owner since 2010

MBA, GAICD 
 
 
 
Chief Operating Officer, Director 
Credit Card Company Pty Ltd and 
Green Environment Finance Pty Ltd

Rick joined Community First in December 
2010 as Head of Information Technology. 
In May 2011 he was appointed to the role 
of General Manager Support Services. 
Currently Rick is the Chief Operating 
Officer. This role’s responsibilities 
include Community First’s information 
technology; lending; talent management; 
and operations. Rick has international 
experience having worked in Scotland 
and Asia for five years and has spent over 
half of his career working in senior and 
general management positions.

Rick has extensive experience in strategic 
planning, information technology, 
operations, change and program 
management. Rick has previously 
held Directorships with bank owned 
entities that specialised in payments 
and processing. Rick holds a Masters of 
Business Administration degree.

HUNG TRUONG

Member and Owner since 1999

B. Commerce (Accounting), FCPA 
 
 
 
Chief Financial Officer, Company 
Secretary, Director Credit Card 
Company Pty Ltd and Green 
Environment Finance Pty Ltd

Hung joined Community First in 
December 1999 and over 15 years has 
progressed through the organisation in a 
number of key roles in finance. Currently 
Hung is the Chief Financial Officer with 
oversight of the Finance and Accounting 
function; covering financial management; 
budgeting; taxation; treasury; prudential 
and statutory reporting. He is also 
responsible for the Collections, Corporate 
Services and Company Secretarial 
functions. 

Executive Managers
Company Officers of the Credit Union at any time during or since the end of the financial year were:
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STEPHEN LOWNDES

Member and Owner since 1999

B. Rur. Sc. (Hons) UNE, MAMI 
 
 

Chair of Directors, 
Chair Corporate Governance and 
Remuneration Committee

Mr Lowndes was appointed to a 
casual vacancy on the Board in 
March 2001 and elected as Chair on 
1 July 2008. Stephen has 30 years 
experience in data analysis; systems 
development; policy formulation; strategic 
planning; executive management; and 
industry representation, gained in the 
Commonwealth Public Service; Private 
Health Insurance; Aged Care and Health 
industries. Stephen has served on the 
Boards of the Australian Friendly Society 
Association; the Australian Health 
Services Alliance; and the Australian 
Health Insurance Association, and a 
number of not-for-profit community 
services organisations.

Stephen was formerly a member of 
the Management Board of Manchester 
Unity Credit Union; Chief Executive of 
Manchester Unity Australia Ltd; and CEO 
of the Aged and Community Services 
Association of NSW and ACT, a peak 
industry association representing not-for-
profit aged care providers.

Stephen is currently the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Royal Rehabilitation 
Centre Sydney, a not-for-profit specialist 
rehabilitation and disability hospital.

JACKI JOHNSON

Member and owner since 2005 

BAppSc (OT), EMBA (AGSM), GradDip 
Safety Science, FAICD 
 

Member of Corporate Governance 
and Remuneration Committee

Jacki Johnson was appointed Chief 
Executive Officer of IAG’s New Zealand 
business in November 2010 and is an 
Executive Director of IAG NZ. She is a 
Board member of the Insurance Council 
of New Zealand and Past President.  
Jacki is also a Director of Community 
First Credit Union and a member of the 
Community First Corporate Governance 
Committee. 

Since joining IAG in 2001, Jacki has 
held several senior positions in both 
direct and intermediated insurance. 
Jacki is currently the Chief Executive 
Officer of IAG New Zealand and prior 
to this was the Chief Executive Officer 
of the Group’s first dedicated online 
insurance business, The Buzz. Prior to 
this, Jacki was Chief Executive Officer 
of business partnerships, managing 
IAG’s risk management and safety 
services, New South Wales and Victoria 
workers’ compensation fee based 
businesses, affinity groups, motor dealers 
and motor manufacturers insurance 
distribution businesses. She has also led 
organisational effectiveness and group 
strategy functions, and managed the 
integration of IAG and CGU’s workers’ 
compensation business.

Jacki has more than 20 years experience 
in the insurance industry and has held 
senior positions with Allianz Insurance, 
HIH Insurance and IRS Total Injury 
Management.

Jacki is a former Director of the New 
South Wales WorkCover Authority and 
the Personal Injury Education Foundation.

The Directors present 
their report together 
with the financial report 
of Community First 
Credit Union Limited 
(“Community First” or 
“the Credit Union”), 
and of the Consolidated 
Entity, being the Credit 
Union and its controlled 
entities, for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2015 
and the auditor’s report 
thereon.

Directors 
The Directors of the Credit Union at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 
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NURIA KELLY

Member and owner since 1989

Assoc Dip Accounting, Cert Financial 
Markets (SIA), Dip Law, Solicitor & 
Barristers Admission Board, MAMI. 

Member of Board Audit and Board 
Risk Committees

Ms Kelly joined the Board as an Associate 
Director in May 2002 and was elected to 
the Board in 2003. Nuria has more than 
20 years experience in financial planning 
and management, with qualifications from 
the Securities Institute of Australia and an 
Associate Diploma in Accounting and a 
Diploma of Law. Nuria has recently retired 
as principal of a Financial Planning and 
Stockbroking Practice and brings to the 
Board her experience of working closely 
with Community First Members through 
her financial planning and stockbroking 
role. Nuria was previously Head of 
Financial Services Sydney with RSM Bird 
Cameron.  

Ms Kelly is also a Director of Foot of the 
Mountains Pty Ltd which owns retail 
businesses in the Blue Mountains. Foot 
of the Mountains also holds interests in 
various properties and online businesses. 

STUART KORCHINSKI

Member and Owner since 2004

B. Comm (Honours), CPA, CA, MAMI 
 
 

Member of Board Audit and Board 
Risk Committees

Mr Korchinski was appointed to the 
Board in June 2004 to fill a casual 
vacancy. Stuart has spent the last 27 
years in the accounting profession and 
the general insurance, superannuation, 
wealth managment and related 
technology industries in a variety of 
leadership roles. He is a Chartered 
Accountant and former Managing Director 
of ASX-listed Diversa Limited; CitiStreet 
Australia; Telstra's KAZ Business 
Services; Australian Administration 
Services; and Chief General Manager of 
Allianz's personal insurance business. He 
is also a former non-executive director 
of Enhanced Payment Technologies, 
Thai Administration Services Co. Ltd 
and financial advice company, Money 
Solutions.

Stuart is currently an Executive Director 
and CEO of SuperChoice Services 
Pty Ltd, a specialist superannuation 
technology company; Chairman of 
Datacenter Limited; and Director of 
Centec Securities Pty Ltd and PayClear 
Services Pty Ltd.

STEPHEN NUGENT

Member and owner since 2002. 

B Bus. (Marketing), Grad Cert Internet 
Mkt., AFAMI, JP, AMP (Harvard) 
 

Member of Corporate Governance 
and Remuneration Committee

Mr Nugent joined the Board as a Director 
in May 2002. Stephen has more than 
30 years experience in the finance and 
insurance industries, and was formally the 
Chief Customer Officer for The Hospital 
Contributions Fund of Australia Limited 
(HCF).

Stephen brings to the Board a wide range 
of experience in project and operations 
management; process improvement; 
sales; marketing; customer service; 
financial management; retirement and 
aged care; strategic planning; and 
compliance. 

Directors 
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KENNETH PICKERING

Member and owner since 1968 

Dip Fin Serv, Ass. Dip. Bus. Mgt.,FAICD 
Dip, FAMI, AIMM. 
 

Chair of Board Audit and Board Risk 
Committees

Mr Pickering has been a Director since 
1972 serving as Chair between 1984 
and 1992 and Vice Chair between 1982 
and 2009. Ken has a close affinity with 
the broader Credit Union movement 
through his service on CUSCAL’s National 
Membership Council between 1990 and 
2000, as CEO Australasian Institute of 
Credit Union Directors between 1995 and 
2005 and Executive Manager Professional 
Development for Australasian Mutuals 
Institute between 2006 and 2015. 

Prior to this, Ken had 25 years’ 
experience at Sydney Water, including 
a number of executive management 
positions relating to the change 
management program launched from 
1983. Since 1993 he has been engaged 
in the provision of business management 
and consultancy services in both the 
credit union industry and small business 
along with some property development 
projects.

In December 2014 Ken commenced in a 
new role as Learning and Development 
for the Institute of Strategic Management 
and he remains on the Advisory Board for 
that Institute as well as being a Trustee of 
two self- managed superannuation funds.

He is also a Graduate of the Diploma 
Course and has been a Fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors 
for more than 20 years.

ROCKY SCOPELLITI

Member and owner since 2013

Grad.Dip.Corp.Man, MBA, GAICD, MAMI 
 
 

Member of Board Audit and Board 
Risk Committees

Mr Scopelliti joined the Board as a 
Non Executive Director in March 2013. 
Rocky is the Global Industry Executive – 
Banking, Finance and Insurance at Telstra 
Global Enterprise Services and Telstra’s 
industry thought leader in Financial 
Services. 

Rocky has over 20 years senior 
management experience covering 
Marketing and Communications, Product 
and Business Development, Research, 
Strategy and Planning gained in the 
information technology industry with 
Telstra and financial services industry with 
the Commonwealth Bank of Australia. 

Over the past 6 years, Rocky has 
authored ten thought leadership 
research reports covering retail banking, 
business banking, insurance and wealth 
management that have become widely 
acknowledged for their contribution to 
digital transformation.

Educated in Australia and trained in 
the United States, at Sydney University 
and Stanford University, Rocky has 
a Graduate Diploma in Corporate 
Management and a Masters in Business 
Administration. He is also Graduate and 
member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

Directors
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Directors’ Report

Directors’ Interests

Mr. Pickering has an interest in respect to his role as Executive 
Manager, Professional Development of the Australasian Mutuals 
Institute (AM Institute) which runs professional development 
courses and seminars that some Directors may attend. The 
Board does not consider this interest significant but will consider 
any impact if and when any matters arise on the agenda that may 
compromise Mr Pickering’s or the Credit Union’s position.

Each Director holds one redeemable preference share (Member 
share) in the Credit Union held in their capacity as a Member.

Financial accommodation to Directors complies with the 
Corporations Act and was made on terms and conditions 
available to all Members generally.  Details are set out in the 
Notes to the Financial Statements in accordance with applicable 
Accounting Standards.

During and since the end of the year under review, no Director 
has received, or become entitled to receive, a benefit except a 
benefit of the type included in the aggregate amount of Directors’ 
remuneration shown in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Credit Union during the year were 
the provision of retail financial accommodation and associated 
services to Members.

There were no significant changes in these principal activities 
during the year.

Operating Results

The net profit after income tax for the financial year ended 30 
June 2015 was $2.222m (2014: $2.211m). The net interest 
income increased by $892k to $18.479m with the net interest 
margin increasing by 8 basis points to 2.46% from the previous 
year. Non-interest income decreased by $452k with loan and 
advances impairment losses having increased by $47k. The total 
operating expenses increased by $381k or 1.7%.

Review of Operations

Total assets on balance sheet as at year end were $764.7m 
representing an increase of $26.3m from the previous year. The 
loans portfolio has increased by $11.2m or 1.9%. Total deposits 
grew by $24.8m or 3.7% for the year. 

Dividends and Franking Credits

The Credit Union’s Constitution is based on the principles of 
mutuality and prevents the payment of dividends to Members.

State of Affairs

In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes 
in the state of affairs of the Credit Union during the financial year 
under review not otherwise disclosed in this report or the financial 
report presented.

Directors’ Meetings

The number of Directors’ Meetings (including meetings of committees of Directors) and number of meetings attended by each of the 
Directors of the Credit Union during the financial year are outlined in the table below:

Name Status
Board 
Meetings

Corporate 
Governance & 
Remuneration 
Committee 
Meetings

Board Audit  
Committee 
Meetings

Board Risk 
Committee 
Meetings

Board 
Planning 
Meetings

a b a b a b a b a b

Mr Stephen Lowndes Non-Executive 8 9 4 4 - - - - 1 1

Ms Jacki Johnson Non-Executive 9 9 4 4 - - - - 1 1

Ms Nuria Kelly Non-Executive 9 9 - - 4 4 4 4 1 1

Mr Stuart Korchinski Non-Executive 9 9 - - 3 4 3 4 1 1

Mr Stephen Nugent Non-Executive 8 9 4 4 - - - - 1 1

Mr Kenneth Pickering Non-Executive 9 9 - - 4 4 4 4 1 1

Mr Rocky Scopelliti Non-Executive 9 9 - - 4 4 4 4 1 1

a – Number of meetings attended.    b - Number of meetings that the Director was eligible to attend. Leave of absence was granted 
for meetings unable to be attended.

The Nominations Committee held one meeting during the financial year. The meeting was attended by John Curtis and Paul Johnson.
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Directors’ Report

Environmental Regulation

The Credit Union’s operations are not subject to any significant 
environmental regulation under either Commonwealth or 
State legislation. The Board believes that the Credit Union 
has adequate systems in place for the management of its 
environmental requirements and is not aware of any breach 
of those environmental requirements as they apply to the 
organisation.  However, the Credit Union is committed to 
helping create better and more sustainable communities, and 
has launched a number of products to promote environmentally 
sustainable initiatives by consumers through the use of low 
interest “Green” personal loans.

Significant Events after the Reporting Date

In July 2015 the Board of Directors of Community First Credit 
Union resolved to accept a proposed voluntary total transfer of 
business of the Northern Beaches Credit Union to Community 
First Credit Union under the Financial Sector (Business Transfer 
and Group Restructure) Act 1999 (Cth). Northern Beaches Credit 
Union is a Sydney based credit union with approximately 9,000 
members, member’s equity of approximately $9.6m, over $131m 
in assets and $121m in liabilities.

The proposed merger will result in a new entity with 
approximately 75,000 members across the Sydney and Coast 
markets with assets under management of approximately 
$910m, brings together two credit unions with shared values, 
which are firmly focussed on creating and returning value to 
members and believe in supporting the communities in which 
their members live and work. 

Likely Developments

The Credit Union will continue to pursue its mission of helping 
Members to achieve their financial goals by building relationships 
for mutual benefit. It will also strive to seek growth in all areas of 
the operation.

Indemnification and Insurance of Officers and 
Auditors

During the year, a premium was paid in respect of a contract 
insuring Directors and Officers of the Credit Union against all 
liabilities to other persons (other than the Credit Union or a related 
body corporate) that may arise from their positions as Directors 
and Officers of the Credit Union except where the liability arises 
out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The Officers of 
the Credit Union covered by the insurance contract include the 
Directors, Executive Officers, Company Secretaries and other 
relevant employees.

In accordance with normal commercial practice, disclosure of 
the total amount of premium payable under, and the nature of 
liabilities covered by, the insurance contract is prohibited by a 
confidentiality clause in the contract.

No insurance cover has been provided for the benefit of the 
auditors of the Credit Union.
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Lead Auditor’s  
Independence Declaration

The Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration is set out on page 65 and forms part of the directors’ report 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2015.

Rounding

The amounts contained in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand in 
accordance with ASIC class order 98/100 (amended by ASIC Class Order 06/51). The Credit Union is 
permitted to round to the nearest thousand ($’000) for all amounts except prescribed disclosure that are 
shown in whole dollars.

Public Prudential Disclosures

As an Approved Deposit-taking Institution (“ADI”) regulated by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority 
(“APRA”), the Credit Union is required to publicly disclose certain information in respect of:

•   Equity and regulatory capital,

•   Risk exposure and assessment, and

•   Remuneration disclosures.

These disclosures are to be found on the Credit Union’s website; http://www.communityfirst.com.au/capital-
disclosures

Acknowledgments

On behalf of the Directors, please allow us to thank everyone who has contributed to our success this year: 
our Members, staff, representatives and business partners.

Dated at Sydney, NSW this 27th day of August 2015

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Mr Stephen Lowndes Mr Kenneth Pickering 
Chair    Chair of the Board Audit and Risk Committees 
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Statements of Profit or Loss and  
Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Credit Union

 
Note

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

Interest income 5 35,666 37,647 35,666 37,647

Interest expense 5 (17,187) (20,060) (17,187) (20,060)

Net interest income 5 18,479 17,587 18,479 17,587

Impairment losses on loans and advances 6 (355) (308) (355) (308)

Non-interest income 7 7,362 7,814 7,362 7,814

Other expenses 8 (22,584) (22,203) (22,584) (22,203)

Profit before income tax 2,902 2,890 2,902 2,890

Income tax expense 9 (680) (679) (680) (679)

Profit for the year 2,222 2,211 2,222 2,211

Total comprehensive income for the year 2,222 2,211 2,222 2,211

Attributable to:

Members of the Credit Union 2,222 2,211 2,222 2,211

The Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial 
Statements commencing on page 33.
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Statements of Changes in Members’ Equity  
for the Year Ended 30 June 2015

Capital 
$’000

Retained 
Earnings 

$’000

Credit 
Loss 

Reserve 
$’000

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Consolidated

Opening balance at 1 July 2013 172 57,900 1,700 3,781 63,553

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year - 2,211 - - 2,211

Transfer of share redemption 8 (8) - - -

Closing balance at 30 June 2014 180 60,103 1,700 3,781 65,764

Opening balance at 1 July 2014 180 60,103 1,700 3,781 65,764

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year - 2,222 - - 2,222

Transfer of share redemption 7 (7) - - -

Closing balance at 30 June 2015 187 62,318 1,700 3,781 67,986

Capital 
$’000

Retained 
Earnings 

$’000

Credit 
Loss 

Reserve 
$’000

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 
$’000

Total 
$’000

Credit Union

Opening balance at 1 July 2013 172 57,900 1,700 3,781 63,553

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year - 2,211 - - 2,211

Transfer of share redemption 8 (8) - - -

Closing balance at 30 June 2014 180 60,103 1,700 3,781 65,764

Opening balance at 1 July 2014 180 60,103 1,700 3,781 65,764

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year - 2,222 - - 2,222

Transfer of share redemption 7 (7) - - -

Closing balance at 30 June 2015 187 62,318 1,700 3,781 67,986

The Statements of Changes in Members’ Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements commencing 
on page 33.
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Statements of Financial Position as at 30 June 2015

Consolidated Credit Union

 
 

Note
2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

ASSETS

Cash assets 10 7,691 17,090 7,691 17,090

Receivables due from other financial institutions 11 142,645 120,201 142,645 120,201

Loans and advances 12 598,228 587,032 598,228 587,032

Other investments 14 5,248 2,589 5,248 2,589

Intangible assets 15 249 195 249 195

Accrued receivables 16 1,722 1,885 1,722 1,885

Property, plant and equipment 17 8,402 8,696 8,402 8,696

 Deferred tax assets 18 481 650 481 650

Total Assets 764,666 738,338 764,666 738,338

LIABILITIES

Deposits 19 689,015 664,245 689,015 664,245

Payables 20 5,685 6,146 5,685 6,146

Income tax provisions 22 63 - 63 -

 Other provisions 23 1,917 2,183 1,917 2,183

Total Liabilities 696,680 672,574 696,680 672,574

 Net Assets  67,986 65,764 67,986 65,764

MEMBERS’ EQUITY

Redeemable preference shares capital account 24 187 180 187 180

Reserves 25 5,481 5,481 5,481 5,481

Retained earnings 26 62,318 60,103 62,318 60,103

 Total Members’ Equity  67,986 65,764 67,986 65,764

The Statements of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements commencing on page 33.
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Statements of Cash Flows for the  
Year Ended 30 June 2015

Consolidated Credit Union

 
 

Note
2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Interest received 35,564 37,579 35,564 37,579

Dividend received 648 641 648 641

Non-interest income received 6,707 7,179 6,707 7,179

Interest paid (18,001) (20,946) (18,001) (20,946)

Payments to suppliers and employees (21,923) (22,294) (21,923) (22,294)

Income tax (paid) (144) (324) (144) (324)

Net Increase in deposits 24,769 692 24,769 692

Net (increase) in Members’ loans (11,551) (10,324) (11,551) (10,324)

Net cash provided by operating activities 27(b) 16,069  (7,797) 16,069  (7,797)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 62 30 62 30

Net (increase) / decrease in investments (25,102) 6,597 (25,102) 6,597

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (225) (268) (225) (268)

Purchase of Intangible Assets (203) (123) (203) (123)

Net cash used in investing activities  (25,468)  6,236 (25,468)  6,236

Net (decrease) / increase in cash held (9,399) (1,561) (9,399) (1,561)

Cash at beginning of the financial year 17,090 18,651 17,090 18,651

Cash at the end of the financial year 27(a) 7,691  17,090 7,691  17,090

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements commencing on page 33.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements

1. REPORTING ENTITY

Community First Credit Union Limited (the ‘Credit Union’) is a company domiciled in Australia. The consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 comprises the Credit Union and its controlled entities (together referred to as 
the “Consolidated Entity”). The address of the Credit Union’s registered office is Level 2, 67-73 St Hilliers Road, Auburn. The 
Credit Union is a for-profit entity and primarily involved in the provision of financial products, services and associated activities to 
Members. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of Compliance

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 
2001.  The financial statements of the Consolidated Entity comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 August 2015. 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements 
and have been applied consistently by the Consolidated Entity.

(b) Basis of Measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for land and buildings as 
indicated in Note 17. 

(c) Use of Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AASBs requires management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements is included in the following note:

• Note 13 – Impairment of Loans and Advances

• Note 14 – Other Investments

• Note 17 – Land and buildings

(d) Functional and Presentation Currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Consolidated Entity’s functional 
currency. The Consolidated Entity is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100 (amended by ASIC Class Order 06/51) 
and in accordance with that Class Order, all financial information presented in Australian dollars has been rounded to the 
nearest thousand unless otherwise stated.

3. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union have consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented 
in these financial statements.

(a) Basis of Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Credit Union. The Credit Union controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on 
which control commences until the date on which control ceases.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated. 

(b) Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognised at fair value of the consideration received net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) 
payable to the Australian Tax Office (ATO). Exchanges of goods or services of the same nature and value without any cash 
consideration are not recognised as revenues.

Sale of Non-current Assets

Revenue from the disposal of assets is recognised when title passes from the Consolidated Entity to the purchaser. The gain 
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the 
net proceeds on disposal.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognised on the date the Consolidated Entity’s right to receive payment is established.

Interest Income 

Interest income is recognised in the profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset (or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset. When calculating the effective interest rate, the 
Consolidated Entity estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments, but not future 
credit losses.

Loan Origination Fees

Loan origination fees are initially deferred as part of the loan balance, and are brought to account as income over the 
expected life of the loan. The amounts brought to account are included as part of interest revenue. 

Rental Income

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

Other Revenue

Fee, commission and other revenue is recognised when the service is completed, or when the fee in respect of services 
provided is receivable.

(c) Transaction Costs

Transaction costs are expenses which are direct and incremental to the establishment of the loan. These costs are initially 
deferred as part of the loan balance, and are brought to account as a reduction to income over the expected life of the loan. 

(d) Income Tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are recognised in 
the profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items  recognised directly in equity, in which case it is  recognised in 
equity, or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the Statement of Financial Position date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be recognised.

The Tax Laws Amendment (Taxation of Financial Arrangements) Act 2009 (TOFA Legislation) came into effect from 1 July 
2010. The TOFA legislation provides a framework for the taxation of financial arrangements, potentially closer alignment 
between tax and accounting requirements. There are specific transitional provisions in relation to the taxation of existing 
financial arrangements outstanding at the transition date (i.e. there is a choice to bring pre-commencement financial 
arrangements into the new regime subject to a balancing adjustment being calculated on transition to be returned over the 
next succeeding four tax years). The Consolidated Entity has elected to apply the arrangements from 1 July 2010 and to 
bring pre-commencement financial arrangements into the new regime at that time.  
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Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 
form an integral part of the Consolidated Entity’s cash management are included as a component of cash equivalents for the 
purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows.

(f) Held-to-maturity Financial Assets

If the Consolidated Entity has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then such financial assets 
are classified as held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs on the trade date, which is the date that the Consolidated Entity becomes a party to provision 
of the instruments. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Held-to-maturity financial assets comprises of debentures.  The 
Consolidated Entity’s investments in interest bearing deposits are classified as held-to-maturity. 

(g) Available-for-Sale Financial Instruments

Available-for-sale financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs on 
the trade date, which is the date that the Consolidated Entity becomes a party to provision of the instruments. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, available for sale financial instruments are measured at fair value unless fair value is unable to be 
determined reliably, in which case they are carried at cost. Changes in fair value, other than impairment losses, for available-
for-sale financial instruments are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve in equity. 
When available-for-sale financial instrument is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is reclassified to profit or 
loss. 

Available-for-sale financial instruments comprise of shares (see Note 3(k)).

(h) Loans and Advances to Members

All loans are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and inclusive of loan origination fees on the 
date that they are originated. Loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost less impairment losses. Any difference 
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the profit or loss over the 
period of the loan using the effective interest method.

Loans are derecognised if the Consolidated Entity’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the loans expire or if the 
Consolidated Entity transfers the loan to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards of the 
loan.

(i) Loan Impairment 

Losses on impaired loans will be recognised when there is objective evidence that impairment of a loan or portfolio of loans 
has occurred.

Specific Provision

Losses for impaired loans are recognised when there is objective evidence that the impairment of a loan has occurred. 
Impairment losses are calculated on individual loans. The amount provided for impairment is determined by management 
and the Board to recognise the probability of the loan amount not being collected in accordance with the terms of the loan 
agreement.

Collective Impairment Provision

The collective impairment provision is based on historical loss experience for groups of loans with similar credit risk 
characteristics.

(j) Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Consolidated Entity’s assets are reviewed at each statement of financial position date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets recoverable amount is 
estimated. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss, unless an asset has previously been revalued, in which case the 
impairment loss is recognised as a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with any excess recognised through the 
profit or loss.

(k) Equity Investments

Investments in shares are classified as available-for-sale financial Instruments. Investments in shares where a market value is 
readily available are revalued to fair value, with the gains and losses reflected in equity. Investments in shares which do not 
have a quoted market price in an active market and are not capable of being reliably valued are measured at cost less any 
provision for impairment.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements

(l) Intangible Assets

Computer software not integral to the hardware is classified as an intangible asset and stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses. Computer software is amortised over the expected useful life of the software. The lives 
of these assets range from 2 to 5 years. Impairment is assessed on an annual basis. Amortisation charges are recognised in 
other expenses.

(m) Property, Plant and Equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment (except land and buildings) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

Land and buildings are revalued and stated at fair value at the date of revaluation less subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 

The Consolidated Entity recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment the cost of replacing 
part of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the item 
will flow to the Consolidated Entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the 
profit or loss as an expense as incurred. 

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment, and is recognised net within other income / 
other expenses in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, any related amount included in the revaluation reserve is 
transferred to retained earnings. Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the 
difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit and loss.

The Consolidated Entity depreciates all assets on a straight line basis so that the cost or valuation of each asset is written off 
over its expected useful life. 

The estimated useful lives of the Consolidated Entity’s assets are outlined below.

2015 2014

Buildings 40 years 40 years

Leasehold Improvements the lease term the lease term

Plant and Equipment 3 to 5 years 3 to 5 years

The residual value, the useful life and the depreciation method applied to assets are reassessed at least annually.

(n) Recoverable Amount of Non-current Assets

Non-current assets are recorded at values not exceeding their recoverable amounts. Recoverable amount is determined 
as the net amount expected to be received through the cash inflows and outflows arising from the continued use and 
subsequent disposal of a non-current asset. 

Classes of non-current assets measured at fair value are revalued with sufficient regularity to ensure the carrying amount 
of each asset in the class does not differ materially from fair value at reporting date. Independent valuations are obtained 
at intervals of no more than three years. Revaluation increments, on a class of assets basis, are recognised in the asset 
revaluation reserve within comprehensive income. Revaluation increments reversing a decrement previously recognised as 
an expense are recognised as revenue. Revaluation decrements are only offset against revaluation increments relating to the 
same class of asset and any excess is recognised as an expense.

(o) Members’ Deposits

Member savings and term investments are recognised at the aggregate amount of money owing to depositors. The amount 
of interest accrued at balance date is shown as part of payables.

(p) Interest Expense 

Interest expense is recognised in the profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial liability (or, 
where appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial liability. When calculating the effective interest 
rate, the Consolidated Entity estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments, but 
not future credit losses.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements

(q) Redeemable Preference Shares

The Credit Union issues redeemable preference shares to each Member upon joining in accordance with the Constitution 
of the Credit Union. These shares are redeemed for their face value of $2.00 each on leaving the Credit Union. A member 
share must confer the right to 1 vote, and only 1 vote, at meetings of the Credit Union’s members. No dividend is payable in 
respect of any member share.

On winding-up of the Credit Union the holder of a member share is entitled:

(a) to payment of the subscription price for the member share when the member subscribed for the member share; and

(b) if any assets remain after the payments in paragraph (a) – to any surplus assets of the Credit Union. 

(r) Payables

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received.

(s) Interest Bearing Liabilities

All interest bearing liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. These are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the interest bearing liability using the effective interest method. 

Interest bearing liabilities are derecognised if the Consolidated Entity’s obligations specified in the contract expires, are 
discharged or cancelled.

(t) Provisions

Provisions for employee entitlements

The provision for long service leave is based on the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made resulting 
from employees’ service up to reporting date, and having regard to the probability that employees, as a group, will remain 
employed for the period of time necessary to qualify for long service leave.

Provisions for annual leave represent present obligations resulting from employees’ service calculated on undiscounted 
amounts based on remuneration, wage and salary rates that the Consolidated Entity expects to pay as at reporting date. 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the profit or loss in the periods during which services 
are rendered by employees. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or reduction in 
future payments is available. 

Other Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Consolidated Entity has a present, legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. The 
amount recognised as a provision is the expected consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, 
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation and those cash flows are discounted to the present 
value where appropriate.

(u) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

As a financial institution the Credit Union is input taxed on all income except other income from commissions and some fees. 
An input taxed supply is not subject to GST collection, and similarly the GST paid on purchases cannot be recovered. As 
some income is charged GST, the GST on purchases are generally recovered on a proportionate basis. In addition certain 
prescribed purchases are subject to Reduced Input Tax Credits, of which 75% of the GST paid is recoverable. 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of the GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the ATO. In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset 
or as part of an item of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included where applicable GST is collected.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or current liability in the 
Statement of Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements

(v) Leased Assets

Leases under which the Consolidated Entity assumes substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership are classified as 
finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases. The Consolidated Entity currently does not have any finance 
leases. Payments made under operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the term of the lease, except 
where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property.

(w)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning 
after 1 July 2014, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. Those which may be relevant to the 
Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union are set out below. 

The Consolidated Entity and the Credit Union do not plan to adopt these standards early. 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments (2014)

AASB 9, approved in December 2014, replaces the existing guidance in AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement. AASB 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including 
a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and the new general hedge accounting 
requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from AASB 139. 

AASB 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Consolidated Entity and the 
Credit Union is assessing the potential impact on its financial statements resulting from the application of AASB 9.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognised. It 
replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and IFRIC 
13 Customer Loyalty Programmes.

AASB 15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The Consolidated Entity and the 
Credit Union are assessing the potential impact on its financial statements resulting from the application of AASB 15.
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Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Introduction and Overview

The Credit Union and the Consolidated Entity has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

•  credit risk

•  liquidity risk

•  market risks

•  operational risks

•  capital management

This note presents information about the Credit Union’s and the Consolidated Entity’s exposure to each of the above risks, 
their objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and their management of capital.

Risk Management Framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The 
Board has established the Board Audit and Board Risk Committees (BAC and BRC) to oversee the financial reporting and 
audit and risk management processes. These Committees comprise of up to four Directors, none of whom is the Chairman 
of the Board.

The risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the entity, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed 
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered. The Credit Union and the Consolidated 
Entity, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive 
control environment, in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

The Board Audit and Board Risk Committee’s major activities are to: 

•  monitor corporate risk assessment and the evaluation of the effectiveness of internal controls and policies;

•  monitor audit reports received from internal and external auditors, and management responses thereto;

•  liaise with the auditors (internal and external) on the scope of their work, and experience in conducting an effective audit;

•  ensure that external auditors remain independent in the areas of work conducted;

•  oversee compliance with statutory responsibilities relating to financial disclosure and management information reporting 
to the Board; and

•  assist the Board in the engagement, performance assessment and remuneration of the auditors.

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Consolidated Entity if a Member or Counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the loans and advances to Members, liquid investments and 
investment securities. 

Management of Credit Risk – Loans and Advances

The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the management of credit risk to the Credit Services Department in 
respect of loans and advances. The Credit Services Department is responsible for oversight of the credit risk, including:

•  Formulating credit policies covering collateral requirements, credit assessment, risk grading and reporting, documentary 
and legal procedures, and compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements.

•  Establishing the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities. Authorisation limits are allocated 
to Credit Officers. Credit facilities exceeding $1 million require approval by the Credit Sub Committee comprising of two 
Executives and the Head of Credit Services. The Credit Sub Committee in turn makes recommendations to the Chief 
Executive Officer for the final approval. Any delegation used within policy is tabled to the Asset and Liability Committee 
(ALCO) for approval.

•  Reviewing and assessing credit risk. The Credit Services Department assesses all credit exposures in excess of 
designated limits, prior to facilities being committed to Members concerned. Renewals and reviews of facilities are 
subject to the same review process. 

•  Limit concentrations of exposure to counterparties.

•  Reviewing compliance with agreed exposure limits. Regular reports are provided to the Credit Services Department on 
the credit quality of loans and appropriate corrective action is taken. 
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Management of Credit Risk – Liquid Investments

The risk of losses from liquid investments undertaken is reduced by the nature and quality of the independent rating of the 
counterparty, and the limits of concentration of investments to any counterparty. The Board policy maintains not more than 
150% of its capital base can be invested in Cuscal Limited, a company, partially owned by Community First and set up to 
support the member credit unions and which has an A+ rating. The policies of the Board limit other investments outside of 
Cuscal to not more than 50% of the capital base of the Consolidated Entity. A limit is also set for each counterparty based 
on a credit rating assigned by an independent rating agency with the exception of other Mutual ADIs which are considered 
separately within the policy.

Management of Credit Risk – Investment Securities

In respect of investment securities, any investment activity undertaken requires Board approval on a case by case basis. 
The Credit Union and the Consolidated Entity will make equity investments in companies or joint ventures only where 
the investment is deemed necessary by the Board of Directors and is related to the provision of products or services 
to Community First or its Members. The Credit Union and the Consolidated Entity will obtain APRA’s approval before 
committing to any exposure to entities in excess of prescribed limits. The Chief Executive Officer is authorised to make top-
up equity investments or loans in ventures previously approved by the Board, such as:

•  Cuscal Limited 

•  TransAction Solutions (TAS)

Exposure to Credit Risk – Loans and Advances to Members

 
2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

Carrying amount 598,228 587,032

Collectively impaired   

30 days & less than 60 days 149 99
60 days & less than 90 days 49 60
90 days & less than 182 days 578 70
182 days & less than 273 days 61 70
273 days & less than 365 days 10 -

Gross amount 847 299

Allowance for impairment (319) (162)

Carrying amount 528 137

Overdrawn/Overlimit
Less than 14 days 57 51
14 days & less than 90 days 81 49
90 days & less than 182 days 128 77
182 days & over 15 28

Gross amount 281 205

Allowance for impairment (113) (89)

Carrying amount 168 116

Past due but not impaired
30 days & less than 60 days 636 253
60 days & less than 90 days - 562
90 days & less than 182 days 252 521
182 days  to 273 days - -
273 days to 365 days - 370
365 days & over 225 224

Gross amount 1,113 1,930

Neither past due nor impaired 

Gross amount 598,150 586,767

Includes accounts with renegotiated terms     275 552

Allowance for impairment (668) (849)
Deferred loan fees and expenses (181) (140)

Unearned income (882) (929)

Total carrying amount 598,228 587,032
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Impaired Loans

Impaired loans are loans for which the Credit Union and the Consolidated Entity determines that it is probable that it will be 
unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the loan.

Loans with Renegotiated Terms

Loans with renegotiated terms are loans that have been restructured due to deterioration in the borrower’s financial position 
and where the Credit Union and the Consolidated Entity has made concessions that it would not otherwise consider. Once 
the loan is restructured it remains in this category independent of satisfactory performance after restructuring.

Allowances for Impairment

The Credit Union and the Consolidated Entity establishes an allowance for impairment losses that represents its estimate of 
incurred losses in its loan portfolio. The main component of this allowance is the collective loan loss allowance established 
for the Consolidated Entity of homogeneous assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but have not been identified 
on loans subject to individual assessment for impairment. Bad debts are written off from time to time as determined by 
management and approved by the Chief Executive Officer when it is reasonable to expect that the recovery of the debt is 
unlikely. Bad debts are written off against the provision for impairment, if a provision for impairment had previously been 
recognised. If no provision had been recognised, the write offs are recognised as expense in profit and loss.

Write-off Policy

The Credit Union and the Consolidated Entity writes off a loan when the Credit Services Department determines that a loan 
is uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of significant changes in 
the borrower’s financial position such that the borrower can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will 
not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.  

The Credit Union and the Consolidated Entity holds collateral against loans and advances to Members in the form of 
mortgage interests over property, other registered securities over assets, and guarantees. Estimates of fair value are based 
on the value of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, and generally are not updated except when a loan is individually 
assessed as impaired.

An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against past due but not impaired and 
individually impaired financial assets are shown below:

Loans and Advances to Members

2015 
$‘000

2014 
$‘000

Past due but not impaired 1,113 1,930

Collateral - Property 1,113 1,930

It is the Consolidated Entity’s policy to dispose of repossessed properties in an orderly fashion. The proceeds are used to 
reduce or repay the outstanding claim. The Consolidated Entity does not use or take repossessed properties for business 
use. During the year ended 30 June 2015, the Consolidated Entity took possession of $498,000 in collateral (30 June 2014: 
$575,000).

The Consolidated Entity monitors concentration of credit risk by purpose. An analysis of concentrations of credit risk at the 
reporting date is shown below:

2015 
$‘000

2014 
$‘000

Residential loans 541,173 532,787

Personal loans 51,082 44,037

Commercial loans 8,136 12,377

Total gross loans 600,391 589,201
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The Consolidated Entity also monitors the investment options in the market based on the credit rating of the counterparty. 
An analysis of concentrations of investment credit risk at the reporting date is shown below:

2015 
$‘000

2014 
$‘000

Long Term Rating

Standard & Poor’s

AA- 18,500 7,000

A+ 34,558 35,829

A - -

A- 24,971 20,671

BBB+ 45,706 27,337

BBB 7,910 21,864

Unrated (other mutual ADIs) 14,000 19,000

Total 145,645 131,701

(c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Consolidated Entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Management of Liquidity Risk 

The Consolidated Entity’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damages to the Consolidated Entity’s reputation.

Treasury receives weekly reports regarding the liquidity profile of all financial assets and liabilities and details of other 
projected cash flows arising from projected future business. Treasury then maintains a portfolio of short term liquid assets 
and other short term borrowing facilities with domestic financial institutions to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained. 

The Consolidated Entity is required to maintain at least 9% of total adjusted liabilities as liquid assets capable of being 
converted to cash within 48 hours under the APRA Prudential Standards. The Consolidated Entity’s policy is to apply a 
minimum target of 11% of funds as liquid assets to maintain adequate funds for meeting withdrawal requests. Given the 
current economic conditions, the Consolidated Entity is maintaining a minimum liquidity ratio of 12%. The liquidity position is 
monitored daily. Should the liquidity ratio fall below this level, the management and Board has established a plan to address 
the matter as outlined in the board policy on liquidity and funding risk management.

All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by the Assets and Liability Committee, Board Risk 
Committee and the full Board.

The Consolidated Entity relies on deposits from Members as its primary source of funding. The short-term nature of these 
deposits increases the Consolidated Entity’s liquidity risk and the Consolidated Entity actively manages this risk through 
maintaining competitive pricing and constant monitoring of market trends.  

As at 30 June 2015 the Consolidated Entity holds a total liquidity ratio of 19.7% (2014: 18.3%) in the form of High Quality 
Liquid Assets (HQLA) 15.7% (2014: 15.7%) and non-High Quality Liquid Assets 4.0% (2014: 2.6%).

Exposure to Liquidity Risk 

Details of the reported Consolidated Entity liquidity ratio at the reporting date and during the reporting period were as 
follows:

2015 2014

At 30 June (HQLA) 15.7% 15.7%

Average for the period 15.5% 15.3%

Maximum for the period 16.4% 16.2%

Minimum for the period 14.7% 14.9%
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Note

Carrying 
amount on 

balance sheet

Gross 
nominal 

(outflows)
Less than 

1 month
1 to 3 

months
3 months 
to 1 year

1 to 5 
years

30 June 2015

Deposits 19 689,015 (693,938) (423,091) (88,911) (155,094) (26,842)

Payables 20 5,685 (5,685) (5,685) - - -

Other liabilities 22 & 23 1,980 (1,980) (1,980) - - -

696,680 (701,603) (430,756) (88,911) (155,094) (26,842)

Note

Carrying 
amount on 

balance sheet

Gross 
nominal 

(outflows)
Less than 

1 month
1 to 3 

months
3 months 
to 1 year

1 to 5 
years

30 June 2014

Deposits 19 664,245 (670,205) (380,852) (90,928) (171,822) (26,603)

Payables 20 6,146 (6,146) (6,146) - - -

Other liabilities 22 & 23 2,183 (2,183) (2,183) - - -

672,574 (678,534) (389,181) (90,928) (171,822) (26,603)

This table shows the undiscounted cash flows on the Consolidated Entity’s financial liabilities and unrecognised loan 
commitments on the basis of their earlier possible contractual maturity. The Consolidated Entity’s expected cash flows 
on these instruments vary significantly from this analysis. For example, demand deposits from Members are expected 
to maintain a stable or increasing balance; and unrecognised loan commitments are not all expected to be drawn down 
immediately.

The gross nominal inflow/ (outflow) disclosed in the previous table represents the contractual undiscounted cash flows 
relating to the principal and interest on the financial liability or commitment. 

(d) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, equity prices or foreign exchange rates will 
affect the Consolidated Entity’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on 
risk.

Management of Market Risks

The Consolidated Entity is not exposed to currency risk and other price risk as the Consolidated Entity does not trade in the 
financial instruments it holds on its books. The Consolidated Entity is exposed to interest rate risk arising from changes in 
market interest rates.

Overall authority for market risk is vested in the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). The Finance and Risk departments 
are responsible for the development of detailed risk management policies (subject to review and approval by ALCO) and the 
day to day review of their implementation. 

Exposure to Market Risks

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future cash flows or 
fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates. The main tool used to measure and control 
market risk exposure within the Consolidated Entity’s non trading portfolio is Value at Risk (VaR). The VaR of the non-trading 
portfolio is the estimated loss that will arise on the portfolio over a specified period of time (holding period) from an adverse 
market movement with a specified probability (confidence level). The VaR model used by the Consolidated Entity is based 
upon a 99% confidence level and assumes a 250-day holding period. The VaR model used is based mainly on historical 
simulation. Taking account of market data from the previous two years, and observed relationships between different 
markets and prices, the model generates a wide range of plausible future scenarios for market price movements.

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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some limitations, including the following:

•  A 250-day holding period assumes that it is possible to hedge or dispose of positions within that period. This is 
considered to be a realistic assumption in almost all cases but may not be the case in situations in which there is severe 
market illiquidity for a prolonged period.

•  A 99 percent confidence level does not reflect losses that may occur beyond this level. Even within the model used there 
is a one percent probability that losses could exceed the VaR.

•  1500-day observation period. The use of historical data as a basis for determining the possible range of future outcomes 
may not always cover all possible scenarios, especially those of an exceptional nature.

•  The VaR measure is dependent upon the Consolidated Entity’s position and volatility of market prices. The VaR of an 
unchanged position reduces if the market price volatility declines and vice versa.

The Consolidated Entity uses VaR limits for interest rate risk. The overall structure of VaR limits is subject to review and 
approval by ALCO, BRC and the Board. VaR is measured monthly and reports utilising VaR limits are submitted to ALCO 
and the Board for each meeting.

The Value at Risk as at 30 June is $1,027,700 (2014: $2,975,000).

A summary of the VaR position of the Consolidated Entity’s non trading portfolio as at 30 June and during the period is as 
follows:

2015 
% of Capital

2014 
% of Capital

At 30 June 1.6 4.7

Average for the period 1.8 5.9

Maximum for the period 3.8 7.4

Minimum for the period 1.0 4.3

A summary of the Consolidated Entity interest rate gap position can be seen in Note 28.

The management of interest rate risk also involves the monitoring of the sensitivity of the Consolidated Entity’s financial 
assets and liabilities to a parallel shift across the yield curve. An analysis of the Consolidated Entity’s sensitivity to 200 basis 
points shift in market interest rates is as follows:

2015 
% of Capital

2014 
% of Capital

At 30 June

200 basis points increase 0.8 (3.0)

200 basis points decrease (0.8) 3.0

The negative value implies that the portfolio would lose this amount as a percentage of capital, if there were a parallel shift 
down in the yield curve in 2015.

(e) Operational Risks 

Operational risk is a risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Consolidated 
Entity’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity 
risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. 
Operational risks arise from all of the Consolidated Entity’s operations and are faced by all business entities.

The Consolidated Entity’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and 
damage to the Consolidated Entity’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict 
initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to 
management within each business unit. This responsibility is supported by the development of the overall Consolidated 
Entity’s standards for the management of operational risk in the following areas:

•  Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of transactions

•  Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions

•  Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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•  Requirements for the periodical assessment of operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and procedures to 
address the risks identified

•  Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action

•  Development of contingency plans

•  Training and professional development

•  Ethical and business standards

•  Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective

Compliance with the Consolidated Entity’s standards is supported by a program of periodic reviews undertaken by Internal 
Audit. The results of Internal Audit reviews are discussed with the management of the business unit to which they relate, with 
summaries submitted to the Board Risk Committee and senior management of the Consolidated Entity.

(f) Capital Management

The Consolidated Entity is licensed as an Australian Deposit-taking Institution (‘ADI’) under the Banking Act and is subject to 
prudential supervision by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (‘APRA’).

APRA has issued a series of prudential standards to implement the Basel III capital framework and those prudential 
standards, more commonly known as the Basel III Standards, apply to the Consolidated Entity from 1 January 2013.

The Basel III Standards include APS 110 Capital Adequacy which:

i.  requires the Consolidated Entity to have a capital buffer sufficient to absorb  unanticipated losses from its activities and, 
in the event of problems, to enable the Consolidated Entity to continue operating in a sound and viable manner whilst the 
problems are addressed or resolved;

ii.  requires the Consolidated Entity to manage its capital by aligning  its risk appetite and risk profile with its capacity to 
absorb losses;

iii.  imposes on the Board of the Consolidated Entity a duty to ensure that the Consolidated Entity maintains an appropriate 
level and quality of capital commensurate with the type, amount and concentration of risks to which the Consolidated 
Entity is exposed from its activities; and

iv.  obliges the Consolidated Entity to have in place an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (‘ICAAP’).

The Consolidated Entity’s primary source of capital is retained earnings. The Consolidated Entity maintains its’ capital levels 
for the current and future activities by conducting the ICAAP on an annual basis, and maintaining a Capital Management 
Plan.  The plan addresses the capital requirements prescribed by APRA, the strategy for managing capital resources 
over time, a capital target, how the required capital requirements is to be met and actions and procedures for monitoring 
compliance with minimum capital requirements.

During the year, the Consolidated Entity has complied in full with all its externally imposed requirements. 

The Consolidated Entity regulatory capital position at 30 June was as follows:

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

Tier 1 capital 61,930 61,246

Tier 2 capital 2,381 2,329

Total regulatory capital 64,311 63,575

Total risk weighted assets 391,048 389,353

Total capital ratio 16.4% 16.3%

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements



  ANNUAL REPORT 2015 47

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 O

V
E

R
V

IE
WConsolidated Credit Union

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

5. INTEREST INCOME AND INTEREST EXPENSE

Interest Income

Cash deposits at call 132 400 132 400

Deposits with other financial institutions 4,971 5,038 4,971 5,038

Loans and advances 30,563 32,209 30,563 32,209

Total interest revenue 35,666 37,647 35,666 37,647

Interest Expense

Member deposits 16,232 18,276 16,232 18,276

Wholesale deposits 950 1,779 950 1,779

Borrowings 5 5 5 5

Total interest expense 17,187 20,060 17,187 20,060

Net Interest Income 18,479 17,587 18,479 17,587

6. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES

Decrease in provision for impairment - (100) - (100)

Bad debts written off directly against profit 355 408 355 408

355 308 355 308

7. NON INTEREST INCOME

Dividends 648 641 648 641

Fees and commissions

 - loan fee income – other than loan origination fees 815 856 815 856

 - transaction fees 2,495 2,785 2,495 2,785

 - other fee income 940 804 940 804

 - insurance commissions 520 482 520 482

 - other commissions 688 724 688 724

 - wealth management commissions 247 223 247 223

Bad debts recovered 379 356 379 356

Other revenue

 - rental income - 320 - 320

 - ATM fees 597 550 597 550

 - other 33 73 33 73

7,362 7,814 7,362 7,814

7a. (Loss) on Sale of Non-current Assets

 Gross proceeds on sale of non-current asset 62 30 62 30

 Less: written down value of non-current assets (29) (34) (29) (34)

 (Loss) on sale of non-current assets 33 (4) 33 (4)

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

8. OTHER EXPENSES

Staff
 - salaries and wages 7,649 7,523 7,649 7,523
 - employee entitlements 932 936 932 936
 - superannuation 814 780 814 780
 - payroll tax 497 480 497 480
 - seminars and training 175 190 175 190
 - recruitment 31 36 31 36
 - workers’ compensation insurance 148 75 148 75
 - other 381 70 381 70

10,627 10,090 10,627 10,090

Occupancy
 - rent of store premises 2,145 2,070 2,145 2,070
 - depreciation 155 155 155 155
 - other 632 633 632 633

2,932 2,858 2,932 2,858

Computer and Equipment
 - depreciation 126 99 125 99
 - amortisation of software 149 154 149 154
 - bureau services and maintenance 2,375 2,277 2,376 2,277

2,650 2,530 2,650 2,530

Other
 - advertising and promotion 816 1,109 816 1,109
 - communications 325 325 325 325
 - proprietary ATMs 455 417 455 417
 - member remote access 2,024 1,780 2,024 1,780
 - affiliation, regulatory and insurance 546 515 546 515
 - loans administration costs 173 164 173 164
 - depreciation – furniture and office equipment 119 178 119 178
 - depreciation – motor vehicles 89 110 89 110
 - general administration cost 399 564 399 564
 - other 1,429 1,563 1,429 1,563

6,375 6,725 6,375 6,725

22,584 22,203 22,584 22,203

8(a) Auditor’s Remuneration $ $ $ $
 Audit services:
  Auditors of the Consolidated Entity
 KPMG
  - audit and review of financial reports 101,200 119,600 101,200 119,600
  - other regulatory audit services 28,800 34,000 28,800 34,000

130,000 153,600 130,000 153,600

 Other services:
  Auditors of the Consolidated Entity
 KPMG
  - Taxation 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000
 Deloitte
  - internal audit 28,659 126,662 28,659 126,662
 EY
  - internal audit 126,750 - 126,750 -

170,409 141,662 170,409 141,662

300,409 295,262 300,409 295,262

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax expense 511 263 511 263

Deferred Tax Expense

Current year 169 416 169 416

Total income tax expense 680 679 680 679

Numerical reconciliation between tax expense  
and pre-tax net profit

Profit for the year 2,222 2,211 2,222 2,211

Total income tax expense 680 679 680 679

Profit excluding income tax 2,902 2,890 2,902 2,890

Income tax using tax rate of 30% 871 867 871 867

Non-deductible expenses 87 87 87 87

Franking rebate (278) (275) (278) (275)

680 679 680 679

The amount of non-distributable franking credits held by 
the Consolidated Entity after adjustment for credits arising 
on tax payable in the current year’s result. 11,249 10,461 11,249 10,461

10. CASH ASSETS

Cash on hand and at bank 4,691 5,590 4,691 5,590

Deposits at call 3,000 11,500 3,000 11,500

7,691 17,090 7,691 17,090

11. RECEIVABLES DUE FROM  
OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

Held to Maturity Investments

Deposits with Cuscal Limited 25,558 24,300 25,558 24,300

Deposits with other ADIs 117,087 95,901 117,087 95,901

142,645 120,201 142,645 120,201

Maturity Analysis

Not longer than 3 months 93,570 62,678 93,570 62,678

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 20,575 37,273 20,575 37,273

Longer than 12 months 28,500 20,250 28,500 20,250

142,645 120,201 142,645 120,201

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

12. LOANS AND ADVANCES

Overdrafts 35,329 31,661 35,329 31,661

Term loans 565,062 557,540 565,062 557,540

Gross Loans and Advances 600,391 589,201 600,391 589,201

Less: Deferred loan fees and expenses (181) (140) (181) (140)

Less: Unearned income (882) (929) (882) (929)

Less: Provision for impaired loans (Note 13) (1,100) (1,100) (1,100) (1,100)

Net Loans and Advances 598,228 587,032 598,228 587,032

Maturity Analysis

Not longer than 3 months 52,290 48,996 52,290 48,996

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 2,876 1,056 2,876 1,056

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years 23,776 25,945 23,776 25,945

Longer than 5 years 521,449 513,204 521,449 513,204

600,391 589,201 600,391 589,201

Credit Commitments

Loans approved not funded 21,636 34,846 21,636 34,846

Loan facilities for Members’ overdrafts, lines of credit and 
Visa credit limits approved as at 30 June 78,596 71,747 78,596 71,747

Total facilities utilised 35,329 31,661 35,329 31,661

Total facilities unutilised 43,267 40,086 43,267 40,086

13. IMPAIRMENT OF LOANS AND ADVANCES

Provision on impaired loans

Specific provision for impairment

Opening balance - - - -

Transfer to collective provision - - - -

Closing balance - - - -

Collective Provision for Impairment

Opening balance 1,100 1,200 1,100 1,200

Charge to profit or loss - (100) - (100)

Transfer (from) specific provision - - - -

Closing balance 1,100 1,100 1,100 1,100

Total provision for impaired loans 1,100 1,100 1,100 1,100

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

14. OTHER INVESTMENTS

Available for Sale

a.  Shares in Unlisted Companies 

  Cuscal Limited 3,807 2,113 3,807 2,113

  TAS 1,290 325 1,290 325

5,097 2,438 5,097 2,438

b.   CGU-VACC Insurance Limited 151 151 151 151

5,248 2,589 5,248 2,589

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software 1,833 1,710 1,833 1,710

Provision for amortisation (1,638) (1,484) (1,638) (1,484)

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 195 226 195 226

Other additions 203 123 203 123

Amortisation for current year (149) (154) (149) (154)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 249 195 249 195

16. ACCRUED RECEIVABLES*

Accrued interest 717 615 717 615

Accrued non-interest income 46 71 46 71

Debtors and prepayments 959 895 959 895

Income tax receivable - 304 - 304

1,722 1,885 1,722 1,885

*All accrued receivables are due within 12 months.

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

LAND AND BUILDINGS

Land at independent valuation 2,600 2,600 2,600 2,600

Building at independent valuation 5,600 5,600 5,600 5,600

8,200 8,200 8,200 8,200

Less accumulated depreciation (311) (155) (311) (155)

Land and Buildings 7,889 8,045 7,889 8,045

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Office equipment

At cost 837 878 837 878

Less accumulated depreciation (772) (774) (772) (774)

65 104 65 104

Furniture and Fittings

At cost 4,151 4,165 4,151 4,165

Less accumulated depreciation (4,129) (4,062) (4,129) (4,062)

22 103 22 103

Data Processing

At cost 3,222 3,100 3,222 3,100

Less accumulated depreciation (2,924) (2,800) (2,924) (2,800)

298 300 298 300

Motor Vehicles

At cost 425 496 425 496

Less accumulated depreciation (297) (352) (297) (352)

128 144 128 144

Plant and Equipment 513 651 513 651

Total Property, Plant and Equipment  8,402 8,696  8,402 8,696

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment are set out below:

Land and Buildings

Carrying amount at the beginning of year 8,044 8,200 8,044 8,200

Additions - - - -

Revaluation - - - -

Depreciation (155) (155) (155) (155)

Carrying amount at end of year 7,889 8,045 7,889 8,045

Plant and Equipment

Carrying amount at the beginning of year 651 805 651 805

Additions 224 267 224 267

Disposals (29) (34) (29) (34)

Depreciation (333) (387) (333) (387)

Carrying amount at end of year 513 651 513 651

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 8,402 8,696 8,402 8,696
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Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The Consolidated Entity has determined that the financial statements should reflect the value of the investment in the land and 
building through movements in the reserve. The policy of the Consolidated Entity is to obtain external valuation of land and 
buildings every three years. 

Land and buildings had been revalued as at 30 June 2013 based on the independent valuation performed by James Popovic, 
AAPI of Knight Frank Valuations. The revaluation surplus, net of applicable deferred income taxes, was credited to an asset 
revaluation reserve in equity.

The revaluation was made in accordance with a policy to obtain external valuation of land and buildings every three year and 
based on the following assumptions:

•  The property is free of encumbrances, restrictions or other impediments of an onerous nature.

•  The property has been valued on the basis of Capitalisation of Net Income and Direct Comparison approaches.

•  The values assume that the Consolidated Entity would enter into a five year lease arrangements at market rent for five years 
with the option to renew for further five years.

•  Increased rental value has been factored in the value of the property for lease renewals.

• Outgoings for the properties have been estimated in-line with market parameters.

• The values assume the following ranges of capitalisation rates for Capitalisation of Net Income approaches:

• Auburn, NSW:  8.75 – 9.25%

• Gorokan, NSW: 8.50 – 9.00%

Assets Liabilities Net

Consolidated 2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

18. RECOGNISED DEFERRED  
TAX ASSETS & LIABILITIES

Provision for loan impairment 330 330 - - 330 330

Intangible assets 25 24 - - 25 24

Property, plant and equipment 21 22 (556) (473) (535) (451)

Payables 154 124 (2) (1) 152 123

Employee benefits 509 624 - - 509 624

1,039 1,124 (558) (474) 481 650

Assets Liabilities Net

Credit Union 2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

18. RECOGNISED DEFERRED  
TAX ASSETS & LIABILITIES

Provision for loan impairment 330 330 - - 330 330

Intangible assets 25 24 - - 25 24

Property, plant and equipment 21 22 (556) (473) (535) (451)

Payables 154 124 (2) (1) 152 123

Employee benefits 509 624 - - 509 624

1,039 1,124 (558) (474) 481 650
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2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

19. DEPOSITS

Savings deposits 364,637 321,717 364,637 321,717

Term deposits 299,929 323,036 299,929 323,036

Wholesale deposits 24,319 19,361 24,319 19,361

Member shares 130 131 130 131

689,015 664,245 689,015 664,245

Maturity Analysis

At call 361,366 318,397 361,366 318,397

Not longer than 3 months 149,911 152,634 149,911 152,634

Longer than 3 and not longer than 6 months 91,535 99,512 91,535 99,512

Longer than 6 and not longer than 12 months 60,896 68,651 60,896 68,651

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years 25,307 25,051 25,307 25,051

689,015 664,245 689,015 664,245

Concentration of Deposits

There are no Members who individually have deposits which represent 10% or more of total liabilities.

Consolidated Credit Union

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

20. PAYABLES *

Sundry creditors and accruals 2,169 1,816 2,169 1,816

Accrued interest payable 3,516 4,330 3,516 4,330

5,685 6,146 5,685 6,146

*All payables are due within 12 months.

21. STANDBY BORROWING FACILITIES

Loan Facility – Secured

Gross facility 10,000 - 10,000 -

Current borrowing - - - -

Net available 10,000 - 10,000 -

Overdraft Facility – Secured

Gross facility 5,000 20,000 5,000 20,000

Current borrowing - - - -

Net available 5,000 20,000 5,000 20,000

Total Facility

Gross facility 15,000 20,000 15,000 20,000

Current borrowing - - - -

Net available 15,000 20,000 15,000 20,000

22. INCOME TAX PROVISIONS

Provision for income tax 63 - 63 -

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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Consolidated Annual 
Leave

Long 
Service 

Leave Other Total

23. OTHER PROVISIONS

Balance at 1 July 2014 674 1,409 100 2,183

Provisions made during the year 689 242 120 1,051

Provisions used during the year (665) (652) - (1,317)

Provisions reversed during the year - - - -

Balance at 30 June 2015 698 999 220 1,917

Credit Union Annual 
Leave

Long 
Service 

Leave Other Total

23. OTHER PROVISIONS

Balance at 1 July 2014 674 1,409 100 2,183

Provisions made during the year 689 242 120 1,051

Provisions used during the year (665) (652) - (1,317)

Provisions reversed during the year - - - -

Balance at 30 June 2015 698 999 220 1,917

REDEEMED PREFERENCE SHARE CAPITAL ACCOUNT

The redeemed preference share capital account records the dollar value of shares redeemed as at year to date. Each share is valued at 
$2 per share.

Consolidated Credit Union

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

24. REDEEMED PREFERENCE SHARE  
CAPITAL ACCOUNT

Balance at the beginning of the year 180 172 180 172

Transfer from retained earnings on share redemption 7 8 7 8

Balance at the end of year 187 180 187 180

25. RESERVES

Asset revaluation reserve (i) 3,781 3,781 3,781 3,781

Credit loss reserve (ii) 1,700 1,700 1,700 1,700

5,481 5,481 5,481 5,481

Nature and Purpose of Reserves

(i) Asset Revaluation Reserve

  The asset revaluation reserve relates to property, plant and equipment measured at fair value in accordance with applicable 
Australian Accounting Standards. Where property, plant and equipment is reclassified as investment property, the cumulative 
increase in the fair value of the property at the date of reclassification in excess of any previous impairment losses is included in 
the revaluation reserve. 

(ii) Credit Loss Reserve

  This reserve records amounts previously set aside as a general provision and is maintained to comply with the guidance set 
down by APRA.

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

26. RETAINED EARNINGS

Balance at the beginning of the year 60,103 57,900 60,103 57,900

Profit for the year 2,222 2,211 2,222 2,211

Transfer to redeemed preference share capital account (7) (8) (7) (8)

Balance at the end of the year 62,318 60,103 62,318 60,103

27. NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

27(a) Reconciliation of Cash

Cash includes cash on hand, and deposits at call with financial institutions net of outstanding overdrafts.

Cash as at balance date comprises:

Cash on hand 4,691 5,590 4,691 5,590

Deposits at Call 3,000 11,500 3,000 11,500

Overdraft - - - -

7,691 17,090 7,691 17,090

27(b) The net cash provided by operating activities is 
reconciled to the net profit after tax

Net profit after tax 2,222 2,211 2,222 2,211

(Profit) / Loss on sale of fixed assets (33) 4 (33) 4

Bad debts written off 355 408 355 408

Depreciation & Amortisation 638 696 638 696

Changes in Assets and Liabilities

(Increase) in accrued receivables (77) (62) (77) (62)

Net (Increase) in members’ loans (11,551) (10,324) (11,551) (10,324)

Net Decrease / (Increase) in sundry debtors and 
prepayments

64 (470) 64 (470)

Decrease in deferred tax assets 168 416 168 416

Net Increase in deposits 24,769 692 24,769 692

(Decrease) in payables (461) (714) (461) (714)

(Decrease) in provision for doubtful debts - (100) - (100)

(Decrease)in provisions for staff entitlements (386) (9) (386) (9)

Increase / (Decrease) in provision for income tax 241 (61) 241 (61)

Increase / (Decrease) in other provisions 120 (484) 120 (484)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 16,069 (7,797) 16,069 (7,797)

27(c) Cash Flows Presented on a Net Basis

Cash flows arising from loan advances, loans repayments, Member deposits, Member withdrawals and from sales and 
purchases of maturing certificates of deposit have been presented on a net basis in the Statement of Cash Flows.

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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(a) Interest Rate Risk

  The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rate for classes of financial assets and 
financial liabilities are set out below.

Total carrying 
amounts as 

per Statement 
of Financial 

Position

Fixed interest rate repriced in:

Note

Effective 
interest 

rate 

Floating 
interest 

rate
1 year  
or less

1 to 5 
years

Non-
interest 
bearing

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2015  

Financial Assets  

Cash assets 10 2.59% 7,691 - - - 7,691

Due from other financial institutions 11 3.28% - 114,145 28,500 - 142,645

Loans and advances 12 5.12% 221,558 121,758 254,912 - 598,228

Accrued receivables 16 n/a - - - 1,722 1,722

Other assets
14,15, 

17 & 18
n/a - - - 14,380 14,380

Total Financial Assets 229,249 235,903 283,412 16,102 764,666

Financial Liabilities

Deposits 19 2.47% 361,236 302,342 25,307 130 689,015

Payables 20 n/a - - - 5,685 5,685

Other liabilities 22 & 23 n/a - - - 1,980 1,980

Total Financial Liabilities 361,236 302,342 25,307 7,795 696,680

Total carrying 
amounts as 

per Statement 
of Financial 

Position

Fixed interest rate repriced in:

Note

Effective 
interest 

rate 

Floating 
interest 

rate
1 year  
or less

1 to 5 
years

Non-
interest 
bearing

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2014  

Financial Assets 

Cash assets 10 3.25% 17,090 - - - 17,090

Due from other financial institutions 11 3.46% - 99,951 20,250 - 120,201

Loans and advances 12 5.51% 232,479 81,912 272,641 - 587,032

Accrued receivables 16 n/a - - - 1,885 1,885

Other assets
14,15, 

17 & 18
n/a - - - 12,130 12,130

Total Financial Assets 249,569 181,863 292,891 14,015 738,338

Financial Liabilities

Deposits 19 2.92% 318,266 320,796 25,052 131 664,245

Payables 20 n/a - - - 6,146 6,146

Other liabilities 22 & 23 n/a - - - 2,183 2,183

Total Financial Liabilities 318,266 320,796 25,052 8,460 672,574

n/a – not applicable for non-interest bearing financial instruments

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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(b) Fair Values of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels 
in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities if the carrying 
amount is reasonable approximation of fair value.

This hierarchy has three levels as follows:

Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Total carrying 
amount as per 
statement of 

Financial Position

Aggregate fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

30 June 2015

Financial Assets

Cash assets 7,691 - - - -

Due from other financial institutions 142,645 - 142,926 - 142,926

Loans and advances 598,228 - 595,530 - 595,530

Accrued receivables 1,722 - - - -

Other assets 14,380 - - - -

Total Financial Assets 764,666 - 738,456 - 738,456

Financial Liabilities

Deposits 689,015 - 689,949 - 689,949

Payables 5,685 - - - -

Other liabilities 1,980 - - - -

Total Financial Liabilities 696,680 - 689,949 - 689,949

The fair value estimates were determined by the following methodologies and assumptions:

(i) Cash and cash equivalents

The carrying amount approximates fair value as they are short term in nature or are receivable on demand.  

(ii) Receivables due from other Financial Institutions

The fair value for financial assets held to maturity is calculated by reference to the current investment rate that would be 
obtained at balance date for investment based on the number of days remaining until maturity. Financial assets held to 
maturity are carried at amortised cost as these assets are intended to be held until maturity.  

(iii) Loans and Advances

The carrying value of loans and advances is net of collective and specific provisions for impairment.

For variable rate loans, excluding impaired loans, the carrying amount is considered to be a reasonable estimate of fair value. 
The fair value for fixed rate loans is calculated by utilising discounted cash flow models (i.e. the net present value of the 
portfolio future principal and interest cash flows), based on the maturity of the loans. The discount rates applied were based 
on the current applicable rate offered for the average remaining term of the portfolio.

The fair value of impaired loans was calculated by discounting expected cash flows using a rate which includes a premium 
for the uncertainty of the flows.

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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The carrying amount approximates fair value for savings account balances as they are at call. The fair value of members’ 
term deposits are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on current market rates for term deposits having 
substantially the same terms and conditions.

(v) Interest Bearing Liabilities

The carrying amount approximates fair value as they are short term in nature.

29. COMMITMENTS

(i) Lease Expenditure Commitments

The Consolidated Entity leases eleven stores under operating leases. The leases typically run for a period between 1-5 years, 
with an option to renew the lease after lease expires. Lease payments are increased every year to reflect market rentals, 
either via CPI index plus margin, as per industry standard and/or via negotiations.

Consolidated Credit Union

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

Within 1 year 1,824 1,448 1,824 1,448

1 to 5 years 2,133 3,149 2,133 3,149

 3,957 4,597 3,957 4,597

(ii) Operating Lease Receivable commitment

The Consolidated Entity currently has no lease receivable commitment.

(iii)  Transaction Solutions Limited (TAS) commitments

The Consolidated Entity has a commitment to pay transaction fees based on a fixed agreement to TAS for at least the next 
12 months which will amount to approximately $525,480 (2014 $507,480).

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Emergency Liquidity Support

The Consolidated Entity is a party to the Credit Union Financial Support System (CUFSS). CUFSS is a voluntary scheme that all 
mutual ADIs who are affiliated with Cuscal Ltd have agreed to participate in. CUFSS is a company limited by guarantee, each 
credit union’s guarantee being $100.

As a member of CUFSS, the Consolidated Entity:

•  May be required to advance funds of up to 3% (excluding permanent loans) of total assets to another mutual ADI on requiring 
financial support.

•  May be required to advance permanent loans of up to 0.2% of total assets per financial year to another mutual ADI requiring 
financial support.

•  Agrees, in conjunction with other members, to fund the operating costs of CUFSS.

No claims have been made during the financial year. 

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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Particulars in relation to the controlled entity:

Parent Entity

Community First Credit Union Limited.

Consolidated Entity

Consolidated Entity Interest

2015  
%

2014  
%

Credit Card Company Pty Ltd. 100% 100%

Green Environmental Finance Pty Ltd. 100% 100%

32. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Consolidated Entity, directly or indirectly. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Key Management Personnel have been taken to comprise the directors, associate directors and the executive management team 
responsible for the day to day financial and operational management of the Consolidated Entity.

(a) Key Management Personnel Compensation

Key management personnel compensation included in “personnel expense” is as follows:

Consolidated Credit Union

2015  
$

2014  
$

2015  
$

2014  
$

Short-term employee benefits 1,710,868 1,190,579 1,710,868 1,190,579

Other long term benefits 232,847 596,834 232,847 596,834

Post-employment benefits 140,732 127,047 140,732 127,047

Termination benefits - 106,161 - 106,161

In the above table, remuneration shown as Short Term benefits includes (where applicable) wages, salaries, paid annual 
leave and paid sick leave, profit-sharing and bonuses, value of fringe benefits received, but excludes out of pocket expense 
reimbursements. 

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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(b) Loans to Key Management Personnel

Consolidated Credit Union

2015  
$

2014  
$

2015  
$

2014  
$

(i) The aggregate value of loans to Key 
Management Personnel as at Balance date 
amounted to 2,187,288 1,531,740 2,187,288 1,531,740

The total value of revolving credit facilities to 
Key Management Personnel, as at Balance 
date amounted to 100,500 100,500 100,500 100,500

Less amounts drawn down and included in (i) 61,018 39,347 61,018 39,347

Net balance available 39,482 61,153 39,482 61,153

(ii) During the year the aggregate value of loans 
disbursed to Key Management Personnel 
amounted to:

Revolving credit facilities 554,488 521,705 554,488 521,705

Term Loans 1,146,680 756,872 1,146,680 756,872

1,701,168 1,278,577 1,701,168 1,278,577

(iii) During the year the aggregate value of 
Revolving Credit Facility limits were (reduced) 
/ increased to Key Management Personnel 
amounted to: - (153,000) - (153,000)

(iv) Interest and other revenue earned on 
Loans and revolving credit facilities to Key 
Management Personnel 99,729 57,967 99,729 57,967

The Consolidated Entity’s policy for lending to Key Management Personnel is that all loans are approved and deposits 
accepted on the same terms and conditions which applied to members for each class of loan or deposit. There are no loans 
which are impaired in relation to the loan balances with Key Management Personnel. There are no benefits or concessional 
terms and conditions applicable to the close family members of the Key Management Personnel. There are no loans which 
are impaired in relation to the loan balances with close family relatives of Key Management Personnel.

(c) Other Key Management Personnel Transactions with the Consolidated Entity

Other transactions between related parties include deposits from Key Management Personnel and their related entities 
or close family members. The Consolidated Entity’s policy for receiving deposits from other related parties and, in respect 
of other related party transactions, is that all transactions are approved and deposits accepted on the same terms and 
conditions which applied to members for each type of deposit. There are no benefits paid or payable to the close family 
members of the Key Management Personnel. There are no service contracts to which Key Management Personnel or their 
close family members are an interested party.

Notes to and Forming Part of the Financial Statements
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Related Party Disclosures with respect to Key Management Personnel are set out in Note 32. 

34. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY

(a) Cuscal Limited

Cuscal supplies the Consolidated Entity rights to Member Cheques, Redicard and VISA card in Australia and provides 
services in the form of settlement with Bankers for Member Cheques, EFT and VISA card transactions, and the production of 
VISA and Redicards for use by members. 

Cuscal also supplies aggregated financial banking services to the Consolidated Entity including treasury and money 
market facilities. The Consolidated Entity maintains investments with Cuscal to comply with the Liquidity Support Scheme 
requirements.

 

(b) TransAction Solutions Limited (TAS)

TAS is a facilities management company owned by a small group of credit unions, of which Community First Credit Union 
is one.  TAS provides data centre facilities management, disaster recovery and some technology support services for the 
Consolidated Entity.

(c) Ultradata Australia Pty Limited

This company provides and maintains the application software utilised by the Consolidated Entity. 

(d) Service Contracts

All service contracts are capable of being cancelled within 12 months except for TAS. The amount paid to TAS during the 
year for computer bureau facilities amounted to $545,574 (2014: $525,502).

35. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Employee Leave Provision

Aggregate liability for employee entitlements, including on-costs:

Consolidated Credit Union

Note 2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

2015 
$’000

2014 
$’000

Provision for employee annual leave 23 698 674 698 674

Provision for employee long service leave 23 999 1,409 999 1,409

1,697 2,083 1,697 2,083

As at 30 June 2015, the Consolidated Entity employed 133 staff, comprising 89 full-time, 31 part-time and 13 casual employees. 
This equates to a full time equivalent of 115 persons (2014: 134 staff, 91 full-time, 33 part-time and 19 casual employees. 123 
full time equivalent).
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The Consolidated Entity has an arrangement with Integris Securitisation Services Pty Limited and Indue Securitisation Pty Limited 
whereby it acts as an agent to promote loans on their behalf, for on sale to an investment trust. The Consolidated Entity also 
manages the loans portfolio on behalf of the trust. The amount of securitised loans under management as at 30 June 2015 
is $14,501,247 (2014: $20,715,642). In April 2013, Cuscal announced the closure of the Integris Securitisation program and 
allowed the gradual run down of the portfolio. The effective date of the closure commenced 1 March 2014.

37. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE

In July 2015 the Board of Directors of Community First Credit Union resolved to accept a proposed voluntary total transfer of 
business of the Northern Beaches Credit Union to Community First Credit Union under the Financial Sector (Business Transfer 
and Group Restructure) Act 1999 (Cth). Northern Beaches Credit Union is a Sydney based credit union with approximately 9,000 
members, member’s equity of approximately $9.6m, over $131m in assets and $121m in liabilities.

The proposed merger will result in a new entity with approximately 75,000 members across the Sydney and Coast markets 
with assets under management of approximately $910m, brings together two credit unions with shared values, which are firmly 
focussed on creating and returning value to members and believe in supporting the communities in which their members live and 
work.

Otherwise, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Consolidated Entity, to affect 
significantly the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Consolidated 
Entity, in future financial years.
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1 In the opinion of the Directors of Community First Credit Union Limited (the Credit Union):

 (a)  the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 33-63, are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including:

  (i)  giving a true and fair view of the Credit Union’s and the Consolidated Entity’s financial 
position as at 30 June 2015 and of its performance, for the financial year ended on that 
date; and 

  (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 
and

 (b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Credit Union will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable.

2  The Directors draw attention to Note 2 to the financial statement, which includes a statement of 
compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Mr Stephen Lowndes Mr Kenneth Pickering 
Chair    Chair of Board Audit and Risk Committees

Dated at Sydney this 27th day of August 2015. 
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Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001

To: the directors of Community First Credit Union Limited

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended  
30 June 2015 there have been:

 (i)  no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 
2001 in relation to the audit; and

 (ii)  no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG    Peter Russell 
Partner

     Sydney 
27 August 2015

KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with  
KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration

D
E

C
L

A
R

A
T

IO
N

S



KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with  
KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.

Report on the financial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Community First Credit Union (the Credit Union), 
which comprises the statements of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the statements of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the 
year ended on that date, notes 1 to 37 comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information and the directors’ declaration of the Credit Union and the Group comprising the 
Credit Union and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 

The directors of the Credit Union are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for 
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report 
that is free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error. In note 2, the directors also state, in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the 
financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report 
that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
report. 

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards, a true and fair view which 
is consistent with our understanding of the Credit Union’s and the Group's financial position and of their 
performance. 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of 
Community First Credit Union Limited

Continued on page 67
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001.

Auditor’s opinion

In our opinion:

(a)  the financial report of Community First Credit Union is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including:  

 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the Credit Union’s and the Group's financial position as at 30 June 
2015 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and 

 (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards  and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2. 

KPMG   Peter Russell 
     Partner

     Sydney 
27 August 2015

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of 
Community First Credit Union Limited

D
E

C
L

A
R

A
T

IO
N

S



68 COMMUNITY FIRST CREDIT UNION  

Another award winning year  
for our Low Rate Credit Cards

Money Magazines Best of the Best Award 2015   
– Cheapest Credit Card Non-Bank

Mozo People's Choice Award 2014  
– Best Credit Card 

Smart Investor Blue Ribbon Awards 2014  
– Best Low Rate Credit Card

4434

Gold Hologram Mag Stripe 
4434

Gold Hologram Mag Stripe 
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Our Financial Services Stores Locations

Bankstown 
02 9735 1783 
Shop P003, Podium Level, Bankstown Central

Charlestown 
02 4393 8486 
Shop G8012, Ground Level, Charlestown Square

Erina 
02 4393 8480 
Shop T112, Erina Fair

Glendale 
02 4954 3225 
Shop 23, Stockland Glendale

Lake Haven 
02 4393 8481 
Shop 23, Lake Haven Shopping Centre

Liverpool 
02 9735 1782 
Shop 167, Westfield Liverpool

Macarthur 
02 9735 1596 
Shop C19, Level 1, Macarthur Square

Mt Druitt 
02 9735 1781 
Shop 11, Westfield Mt Druitt

Penrith 
02 9735 1780 
Shops 23-24, Nepean Village, Penrith

Rouse Hill 
02 9735 1792 
Shop GR164, Rouse Hill Town Centre
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ABN: 80 087 649 938     AFSL/Australian Credit Licence No: 231204

Registered Office

Level 2, 67-73 St Hilliers Road,  
Auburn NSW 2144

PO Box 98,  
Lidcombe NSW 1825

Contact Us

1300 13 22 77 
www.communityfirst.com.au 
askus@communityfirst.com.au


